Contract

By and Between

The Rome City School District

and

The Rome Teachers Association NYSUT/AFT/NEA/AFL-CIO Local # 2961



July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		4
ARTICLE 1	PREAMBLE	
ARTICLE 2	RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 3	SUPPORT OF EXCLUSIVE TEACHER REPRESENTATIVE	2
ARTICLE 4	NEGOTIATION	3
ARTICLE 5	RESPONSIBILITY	5
ARTICLE 6	A PPOINTMENT OF TEACHERS	4
ARTICLE 7	TEACHER ASSIGNMENT	5
ARTICLE 8	VACANCIES	
ARTICLE 9	TEACHER TRANSFERS	/
ARTICLE 10	TENURE	9
ARTICLE 11	SUBSTITUTES	9
ARTICLE 12	ADMINISTRATIVE INTERNSHIP PROGRAM	10
ARTICLE 13	MEETINGS	II
ARTICLE 14	SCHOOL CALENDAR	
ARTICLE 15	USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES	12
ARTICLE 16	TEXTBOOKS AND REFERENCE WORKS	12
ARTICLE 17	REQUISITIONS	14
ARTICLE 18	TEACHER PROTECTION	14
ARTICLE 19	TEACHING HOURS	13
ARTICLE 20	ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND INDIVIDUAL FREEDOM	
ARTICLE 21	PUPIL DISCIPLINE	18
ARTICLE 22	TEACHER-ADMINISTRATION LIAISON	19
ARTICLE 23	ETHICS	20
ARTICLE 24	IN-SERVICE PROGRAMS	21
ARTICLE 25	CURRICULUM PLANNING	21
ARTICLE 26	MONITOR	
ARTICLE 27	TEACHERS OF STUDENTS IN 12 MONTH PROGRAM	22
ARTICLE 28	TEACHING CONDITIONS	25
ARTICLE 29	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	23
ARTICLE 30	DEPARTMENT RIGHTS	28
ARTICLE 31	POSITIONS IN SUMMER AND EVENING SCHOOLS	
ARTICLE 32	SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE, TEACHER OBSERVATION,	20
	EVALUATION AND RECORDS	40
ARTICLE 33	CLASS SIZE	40
ARTICLE 34	LEAVES	40 15
ARTICLE 35	SABBATICAL LEAVE	T
ARTICLE 36	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND	16
	EDUCATIONAL IMPROVEMENT	40
ARTICLE 37	GRIEVANCE	، ۲۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰۰
ARTICLE 38	MISCELLANEOUS	۲۶ ۲۱
ARTICLE 39	DEFINITIONS	51
ARTICLE 40	SALARY	60
ARTICLE 41	INSURANCE AND ANNUITIES	
ARTICLE 42	EDUCATIONAL POLICY COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 43	DURATION	
APPENDIX A	- MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT (interpreters & ISS)	

MEMO	DRANDUMS OF UNDERSTANDING/AGREEMENTS	.78
1.	Collection and Handling of Lunch Money	
2.	Delayed Opening	
3.	Article 27 Special Learners	
4.	Article 32 Professional Performance Review	
5.	Pilot Program Flex Schedule	
6.	Various Articles Contract Committee Appointments/Ratios Articles 15 and 19A Meetings and	d
	Teacher Work Day	

ARTICLE 1 PREAMBLE

In order to effectuate the provisions of the Public Employees' Fair Employment Act of the State of New York (Chapter 392 of the Laws of 1967) and to encourage the increase of effective and harmonious working relationships between the Rome Superintendent of Schools as Chief Executive Officer and as the representative of the Rome City School District and the professional employees represented by the Rome Teachers Association (hereinafter referred to as the "Association") and to enable the professional employees more fully to participate in and contribute to the cause of public education in Rome, New York, this Agreement:

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS,
the Superintendent as Chief Executive Officer and as representative of the Rome City School District and the Association recognize and declare that providing a quality education for the children of Rome, New York, is their primary mutual aim and responsibility and the quality of such education is heavily dependent upon the quality and morale of the professional staff, and

WHEREAS, the members of the teaching staff have personal needs and desires that must be considered in making any decisions affecting the hours, wages and terms and conditions of employment, and

WHEREAS, the Association and the administration have a joint responsibility to respect and obey all provisions of this Agreement and to make every effort to assure that its members discharge their duties faithfully, and

WHEREAS, the Superintendent as Chief Executive Officer of the District and the Association as representative of the professional staff have a statutory obligation pursuant to the Public Employees' Fair Employment Act to negotiate in good faith with respect to hours, wages and terms and conditions of employment, and

<u>WHEREAS</u>, the parties have reached certain understandings which they desire to confirm this Agreement:

It is hereby agreed as follows:

ARTICLE 2 RECOGNITION

- A. The Board of Education of the Rome City School District recognizes the Rome Teachers Association as the exclusive and sole bargaining representative for the following professional employees: classroom teachers, special teachers, library media specialists, psychologists, guidance counselors, social workers, school nurse teachers, registered nurses, speech therapists, Junior ROTC employees* and all other professionally certified employees and all non-certificated employees filling positions for which certification is normally required by the New York State Education Department excluding substitutes and the administrative unit legally recognized by the Board. During the term of this Agreement, the Association will be notified of the creation of any new positions whose function is essentially similar to any already in the unit. *Junior ROTC employees will be released and excluded from the recognition clauses and bargaining unit effective June 30, 2017.
- B. The Board recognizes the Association as the exclusive representative of the employees so named above for the purpose of negotiations regarding wages, hours, terms and conditions of employment and in the settlement of grievances under the laws of the State of New York.
- C. The parties agree to extend the period of unchallenged representation status for the maximum period authorized by Article 14 of the Civil Service Law, section 208c.

D. DEDUCTION OF FEES FROM SALARY

- 1. The Superintendent agrees to deduct from the salaries of the employees in the unit defined above dues for the Association and its affiliates as said teachers individually submit written authorization for the Board to deduct.
- 2. The following combination will be eligible for salary deduction:

THE ASSOCIATION and its affiliates, VOTE-COPE and N.Y.S.U.T. Benefit Trust.

- 3. Deductions for the above will be made in twenty (20) equal installments, beginning with the second paycheck. ASSOCIATION members may begin payroll deductions at any time after the second paycheck upon ten (10) days prior to notification to the payroll department.
- 4. Payroll deductions will automatically be renewed for the next year unless the Association received notice of cancellation of such authorization. It shall further be the responsibility of the Association to notify the central office administration at least ten (10) days prior to receipt of the second paycheck.
- 5. Any teacher who wish to have the Board discontinue deductions will be able to do so by notifying the administration and the Association in writing one pay period before the change is to take place. That teacher must then complete his/her payment of Association dues to the Association in a single payment within thirty (30) days.
- 6. All receipts will be deposited to the Rome Teachers Association account.
- 7. The Payroll Department shall provide the Association with a print-out of dues deductions for Association members at such times as payment is made to the Association.
- E. The Administration agrees to deduct from each paycheck, and in accordance with a signed, written voluntary authorization to do so, the amount stated on such authorization to be used for the purchase of United States Savings Bonds in such denominations as indicated by the employee on the voluntary authorization.

ARTICLE 3 SUPPORT OF EXCLUSIVE TEACHER REPRESENTATIVE

- A. All members of the bargaining unit who are newly employed and who do not join the Association, shall pay to the Association a service charge as a contribution towards the cost of administration of this Agreement and the representation of such employees. The amount of such service charge shall be equivalent to the dues required of members of the Association. The service fee shall be deducted by the District, subject to the provisions of the applicable law, from each employee's paycheck in equal installments beginning with the first paycheck.
- B. The Association certifies that it has created a legal refund procedure for agency fee payers who object to illegal expenditures, and that it has procedures for dealing with such fees and with agency fee payers in a lawful manner.
- C. In the event that the District incurs any liability for damages, litigation expenses, or any other expenses whatsoever in connection with the agency fee deduction, the Association agrees to indemnify the District and hold it harmless for such expenses.

ARTICLE 4 NEGOTIATION PROCEDURE

A. TIME AND SCOPE OF NEGOTIATIONS

On or about November 1 and no later than December 1 the parties agree to enter into collective negotiations for the ensuing school year in accordance with the procedures set forth herein in a good faith effort to reach agreement on all matters raised by either party concerning the terms and conditions of professional staff employment for the ensuing school year. The Association and Superintendent negotiating teams will make every effort to commence formal negotiations prior to February 1.

Items subject to negotiations include any of the terms in this contract as well as such additional matters as may be properly negotiated under the laws of the State of New York. Any agreement so negotiated shall be reduced to writing.

B. AVAILABILITY OF BUDGETARY AND STATISTICAL INFORMATION

During negotiation, the Superintendent or his/her designated representative(s) shall furnish to the Association upon request such information as required for negotiations. In the event that extensive research is required, the Association will do the research with the Superintendent providing all necessary data. Such information shall be in sufficient detail to facilitate the negotiation process. By example, the Superintendent, upon request, shall furnish all labor costs, to include wages and salaries, retirement, benefit costs, hospitalization and other insurance costs, sick leave costs, personal leave costs, etc., budget information and tax and other revenue information. Upon request the Association will provide the Superintendent with pertinent public information in its possession.

C. On matters which affect earnings, hours of work and other working conditions not already covered in the agreement, whenever feasible the Board should apprise the Association in sufficient time before it takes action to allow an opportunity for the presentation of an Association position. When this is not feasible, after the action is taken, an opportunity should be afforded the Association to be heard and the Board should agree to reconsider the action in light of the Association position. In no case, however, should it be required that the Board obtains Association agreement on the action, if it is not otherwise in violation of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 RESPONSIBILITY

- A. Teachers shall be responsible directly to the principal of the school, and, if applicable, the director of the department of which they are assigned. As a general rule, the principal shall be in charge of building matters and the directors shall be in charge of departmental matters. Any conflict in directives shall be resolved by the administration upon the request of the teacher. A teacher assigned to more than one school shall be responsible directly to the principal of each school during the time the teacher is assigned to that school.
- B. Teachers shall carry into effect the directives of the Board of Education and the Administrations which are applicable or affect their positions as long as they are not contradictory to this Agreement and shall receive copies of written directives.
- C. It will be the teacher's responsibility to fulfill all certification requirements of New York State. Teachers who do not pursue certification as required by New York State law may be subject to dismissal.
- D. Teachers shall be responsible for providing professional services for the entire school year. The Superintendent may, at his/her discretion, grant time off without pay during the instructional calendar for reasons other than those described elsewhere in this Agreement. A teacher will not ask to be released prior to the end of the school year for purposes of taking courses, except in emergency or unusual situations.

- E. It will be the teacher's responsibility to prepare in advance lesson plans for at least three consecutive days. The lesson plans shall be written so as to show clearly and concisely what the teacher has planned for his or her students in each subject area. Individual differences in teacher preparation of plans shall be recognized. Lesson plans may be collected or inspected at the administration's discretion.
- F. Classroom teachers will have readily available and visible procedures for fire drills, civil defense drills and building evacuation which will be provided by the administration.
- G. Teachers shall keep or report an accurate and complete record of pupils, including their attendance and educational development.
- H. Each teacher shall be responsible for the educational progress of his or her pupils, and shall be acquainted with the abilities, the achievements and the handicaps of each child in order that the instruction may be adapted to the needs of each child.
- I. Teachers shall assist in developing improved means of pupil evaluation.
- J. Pupil progress should be graded according to the report cards provided in each school. The teacher shall use a combination of subjective and objective data to arrive at a grade.
- K. Professional staff absent on a superintendent's in-service day is required to become familiar with all materials presented during the in-service day.
- L. Bargaining unit members shall be required to attend one (1) Open House per year, to be scheduled at the discretion of the building administrator. Unit members who have school sponsored business, or have been provided in advance, an excuse from attendance in writing by the administrator, will not have to attend. Failure to attend without prior approval will result in a loss of ½ an accrued personal day. Itinerant teachers (those who work in more than one building) shall attend the Open House in the building where they spend the majority of their time.
- M. For the duration of this agreement, Elementary teachers shall provide one (1) evening of parent/teacher conferences. On the day that evening conferences are scheduled, students and teachers shall be released the second half of the day and teachers shall not be required to remain in the school building. Teachers shall return for the evening conferences as scheduled for the duration of this agreement not to exceed two and a half hours (2.5 hours) per evening conference.

The parties agree to convene, on an annual basis, a committee comprised of teachers and administrators selected by the Association President and District Superintendent to review the effectiveness of the elementary parent teacher conferences. Additionally, the committee will discuss options for modification. Recommendations from the committee shall be presented to the Superintendent and Association President for consideration. These meetings shall occur any time after the last scheduled elementary parent-teacher conferences of the school year but prior to February 1, of that school year.

ARTICLE 6 APPOINTMENT OF TEACHERS

A. DESCRIPTION OF DUTIES

All newly appointed teachers shall be given an orientation folder containing information necessary to acquaint them with the school district. Included in this shall be a letter provided by the President of the Rome Teachers Association, a copy of this Agreement, a teachers' handbook provided by the administration.

B. The administration and Association recognize the desirability of familiarizing teachers with their rights, duties and responsibilities under this Agreement and shall endeavor to do so.

- C. During the term of this Agreement in the appointment of teachers who have not been previously employed in the Rome School System, the Superintendent shall make every reasonable effort to appoint only such teachers who are certified for the position to which they are appointed.
- D. The District and the Association will jointly sponsor a meeting of all new bargaining unit staff prior to the opening of school as part of the regular work year. At this meeting new unit employees will be given a brief description of their responsibilities and rights as employees of the District by the Rome Teachers Association's New Teacher Committee in conjunction with the offices of the Director of Employee Relations and Administration and the Assistant Superintendent for Instruction/Curriculum.

E. TERM SUBSTITUTES

Term substitutes may be used when there is no bargaining unit member in the appropriate tenure area on the District's Preferred Eligible List. When appropriately certified term substitutes are in a position that is expected to remain encumbered for more than one year, or in a position that may remain encumbered for more than one year, the term substitute shall continue in said position without a break in service. This continuation shall be contingent upon positive evaluations being received by the term substitute.

ARTICLE 7 TEACHER ASSIGNMENT

- A. The Administration and the Association recognize that pupils are entitled to be taught by teachers who are working within their area of competence. In order to assure that pupils are taught by teachers working within their areas of competence, teachers will not be assigned to teach classes outside the scope of their certificates and/or their major or minor fields of study except in emergency situations and by mutual consent.
- B. When a teacher is temporarily assigned outside the scope of his/her teaching certificate, the administration shall make a reasonable effort to reduce the teacher's normal responsibilities.
- C. Teachers will be notified in writing of their tentative assignments for the coming school year, as soon as practicable, and under normal circumstances on May 15. The notification of assignments shall be in writing and include the grades and/or subjects that they will teach, and any special or unusual classes that will be assigned and may not preclude change of assignment.
- D. Teachers who will be affected by a change in grade assignment in the elementary school grades and by changes in subject assignment in the secondary grades shall be notified and consulted by their principals as soon as practicable and under normal circumstances no later than one week prior to the close of school in June.
- E. Every effort will be made to avoid reassigning probationary bargaining unit members to different grade levels and/or subject area assignments, unless the teacher requests such a change or the Administration considers it educationally desirable. Prior to reassignment, building administrators will meet with the affected members.
- F. A secondary teacher will not ordinarily teach more than two (2) subject areas nor more than a total of three (3) teaching preparations within these areas at any one time, unless the teacher so requests or agrees. It is intended that subject areas refers to science, mathematics, social studies, etc., and that preparation refers to grade levels such as 7, 8, and 9. Preparations are not to be confused with grouping of students by ability.

Every effort will be made by the secondary principals and department heads to assign classes of different ability among all the teachers in their department and to match teachers with their particular capabilities and/or preferences.

- G. In arranging schedules for professional staff members who are assigned to more than one school, an effort will be made to limit the amount of inter-school travel.
 - Such professional staff members will be notified of any changes in their schedules as soon as practicable, and under normal circumstances, no later than one week prior to the close of school in June.
- H. All professional assignments will be made without regard to race, creed, color, religion, nationality ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, age or place of residence, unless a bona fide occupational or education requirement exists.
- I. Teachers who do travel between buildings will not be responsible for the supervisory duties on the secondary level (i.e., home room and study hall).
- J. Teachers who rotate on a semester basis between secondary schools will be assigned a homeroom and study hall only one semester.

ARTICLE 8 VACANCIES

A. Whenever any vacancy shall occur in any professional position in the Rome Public Schools, the Superintendent shall publicize the same by giving written notice of such vacancy to the Association, and by providing for appropriate posting in the office of Human Resources and on the Association Bulletin Board in each school. Such positions may be filled on a temporary basis until such vacancy shall have been posted for at least five days.

Additionally, the District shall use the District website, and email in order to notify all bargaining unit members of open positions in their unit.

The District will post vacancies by distributing notice of same in the school mail system to the principal and head Rome Teachers Association representative in each building as per the most current distribution list on file with the District. A copy will also be sent to the President of the Association at the Rome Teachers Association's office.

- B. The Superintendent in his/her written notice of vacancies shall give the qualifications necessary for filling such a position and a brief job description. All postings shall include the location of the position, certification required, and starting date. Additionally each posting shall state the deadline for submitting application and shall be posted no later than five working days prior to the filing deadline.
- C Teachers who desire to apply for a position which may be available during the summer vacation period shall submit their names to the Superintendent/ and or Designee, together with the position or positions for which they desire to apply, and an address where they can be reached during the summer vacation period. Vacancies which occur between the close of the transfer day process and September 1st of the school year, will be filled on a rolling basis by the most senior member applying.
- D. District staffing assignments shall be made by the building principal on or before May 15 of each year. On May 16 the positions that are vacated by the organization of the buildings by principals on May 15, and any newly created positions, will be posted and available at District Transfer Day. Should an unusual circumstance prohibit staffing assignments from being made by that date, the District and Association shall mutually agree upon a new date of notification of staffing assignments. In any event, the date for notification shall not be later than one week prior to the close of school in June as outlined in Article 7.
- E. Positions that become available from March 1 until May 15 (based on building shifts) shall be filled on a seniority basis at District Transfer Day. All positions that become vacant through the process of the District Transfer Day, will go to a second transfer day no more than two days after the first. The positions that have been vacated by the second transfer day will be filled by the most senior member

applying on a rolling basis until September 1. District Transfer Day will occur on, or about, June 1 of each year. Should said date fall on a weekend, a date agreed upon by the Association and the Rome City School District shall be mutually named. The Superintendent will post such dates as per section 8A-C.

- F. Whenever a vacancy occurs between September 2 until the last day of February, the district will post the positions per Article 8 A-C. Any qualified teacher can apply for such a vacancy. In filling such a vacancy, all other criteria being equal, preference shall be given to a member of the negotiating unit represented by the Association. The Superintendent agrees to give due weight to the professional background and attainments of all applicants. Seniority will be a factor in selection for the position, but not the governing factor. When a position opens during this time period the district shall fill the position promptly.
- G. If a bargaining unit member applicant for any vacancy is not selected, he/she shall be notified in writing within five (5) days after selection. If an applicant wishes to determine why he/she was not selected, he/she may request a personal interview.
- H. All positions filled as part of the Selection Day Language and process during the 2015-16 Selection Day and the 2016-17 school year, will not be subject to the selection day process, moving forward all positions will remain as filled.
- Teachers on a Teacher Improvement Plan (TIP) must seek prior approval from the Superintendent to be eligible for a voluntary transfer under this Article.
- J. Teachers who are on an approved leave of absence from their position for the entire school year will not be allowed to participate in the selection day process.

ARTICLE 9 TEACHER TRANSFERS

A. VOLUNTARY TRANSFERS

Teachers who desire a change in grade and/or subject assignments or who desire to transfer to
another building shall file directly with the office of the Superintendent of Schools and his/her
designee an application for voluntary transfer at such time as the vacancy, which they seek, is
posted. Such applications will be held in active status for thirty days (30 days) in any case where
the transfer is not granted and this will entitle the applicant to be considered for similar vacancies
which may occur during that time period. The parties will follow the guidelines set forth in
Article 8 of this agreement.

Teachers may also submit a request to be considered for any vacancies that may occur during the summer.

- 2. In evaluating requests for transfer the following criteria shall be followed by the Superintendent:
 - a. A teacher declared in excess during the school year shall have preference in filling a vacancy in a comparable position in another school.
 - b. The following principles shall be applied in the reassignment or transfer of teachers:
 - Individual qualifications.
 - 2. Instructional requirements.
 - Where the foregoing factors are substantially equal, consideration in assignment of transfer shall be given to the incumbent applicant with the greatest number of years of service in the Rome School System. If the most senior unit member is not selected

for a transfer, the appropriate administrator shall provide justification in writing to the unit member as to why the transfer was not granted. A copy of said letter shall also be forwarded to the Association.

4. In unusual circumstances, a teacher may apply for transfer to become effective during the school year in which the application is made. Such requests and reasons, therefore, shall be kept in confidence by the Administration.

B. INVOLUNTARY TRANSFERS

- 1. In the event involuntary transfers are necessary, such shall be affected on the basis of district wide seniority within the school from which the transfer is to be made for elementary teachers and upon the basis of district-wide certification area within the affected school at the secondary level. The individual with the lowest seniority shall be the person transferred.
- 2. In the event that two individuals within the affected school shall have the same District-wide seniority as above defined, the person to be transferred shall be that person with the lowest seniority in accordance with the following:
 - a. District-wide overall seniority. In the event that two individuals shall have commenced their employment with the District on the same date, the date of the resolution of appointment shall govern provided both of such persons were not appointed at the same meeting.
 - b. In the event both such persons were appointed at the same meeting, total teaching experience shall be the determining criteria.
 - c. In the event both such persons shall have the same teaching experiences, total credit hours shall be the determining factor.
- 3. It is desirable that transfers and changes in assignment be on a voluntary basis whenever feasible. In making involuntary transfers and/or changes in assignments, the preference of the individual teacher shall be honored whenever feasible. An involuntary transfer will be made only after a meeting with the teacher and notification of the reasons for the proposed transfer has been stated. In the event that a teacher objects to the transfer at this meeting, the Superintendent will meet with the teacher to discuss the proposed transfer. Teachers shall be notified at the earliest possible date of involuntary transfer and/or changes in assignment and in conjunction with this reassignment the Assistant Superintendent or his/her designee shall discuss the transfer with the teacher.
- 4. Teachers who are involuntarily transferred shall be transferred to a comparable position. If no such position is available, the teacher shall be consulted about an optional assignment.
- 5. No teacher who is transferred shall, by reason therefore, lose his/her tenure status or be deprived of any other professional advantage.
- 6. In the event that a teacher shall be involuntarily transferred after the commencement of the school year, the District shall accord the individual at least one day's relief from his or her teaching duties in order to effectuate the transfer. In addition, the District shall provide assistance to the teacher for the purpose of packing and transporting to the receiving school the teacher's personal property.
- 7. In no event shall this subparagraph B apply to transfers, whether voluntary or involuntary, within a school.

C. STAFFING NEW SCHOOLS

1. If entire schools are being vacated, the teachers in the vacated school shall be given first preference of assignments in the new school.

- The second preference will be given to teachers presently teaching in the Rome Public Schools in accordance with the criteria established in Section A of this Article. (Application of the following provision is contingent upon Section 80.2 of the Commissioner's Regulations as of July 1, 1990, still being in effect at the time).
- 3. If additional positions or grade levels are added as part of the move to a new building (i.e. 6th grade positions being added in what are the middle school schools and 9th grade positions being added in the high school), then these positions would be filled in the following order:
 - a. Teachers encumbering positions in the grade levels affected (i.e. 6th and 9th) will have first preference to voluntarily transfer into the new position of their choice based on their District-wide seniority. The teacher with the greatest District-wide seniority would have the first choice and so on. A 9th grade teacher shall be considered to be someone teaching 50% or more 9th grade courses at the time of the transfers.
 - b. If vacant positions still exist after applying a. above, then they will be filled from voluntary transfer requests using section A of this Article.
 - c. If vacant positions still exist after applying both a and b above, then the least senior 6th grade teacher and the least senior 9th grade teacher in the certification area required would be involuntarily transferred to the remaining positions first. Teachers would then continue to be placed in remaining positions in the reverse order of their District-wide seniority.

Note: Ties in District-wide seniority would be broken in accordance with the procedure as set forth in Section B, subsections 2 a, b and c of this Article.

D. CLOSING SCHOOLS

All teachers employed within a building scheduled to be closed who are therefore to be excessed (or involuntarily transferred) shall be assigned in accordance with the procedure set forth in Section B of this Article.

ARTICLE 10 TENURE

A teacher who has satisfactorily completed the prescribed probationary period as described elsewhere in this Agreement and has been recommended for the appointment to tenure by the Superintendent, may receive an appointment to tenure by a majority vote of the Board of Education. The procedure for such appointments and the rights and protection for both the Board of Education and the teacher to be in accordance with the conditions set forth in the Education Law.

ARTICLE 11 SUBSTITUTES

- A. All positions requiring the employment of substitutes will be filled by personnel who have met the State certification requirements whenever available. If a certified substitute teacher is unavailable, such vacancy will be filled by the best qualified non-certified person available.
- B. The District will make every effort to provide a substitute for a classroom teacher and shall maintain a list of substitute teachers. One copy of the elementary substitute list shall be available in each elementary building; one copy of the secondary substitute list shall be available in each secondary building. The Administration shall issue updated lists at the beginning of each semester, and shall provide one copy of each list to the Association.
- C. Except in unusual circumstances, secondary teachers should call to report unavailability for work before 6:30 A.M. and elementary teachers should call before 7:00 A.M.

- D. The responsibility of arranging for and employing a substitute teacher rests with the Central Office Administration. Whenever possible, substitutes shall be obtained for all teaching assignments. The Administrative personnel will be responsible for briefing substitutes assigned to a school concerning the following duties:
 - 1. Adherence to the lesson plans provided by the regular teacher. If no lesson plans are available for a particular day or class, the substitute should continue the assignment of the previous day to the best of his/her ability.
 - 2. Following established attendance procedures.
 - 3. Assumption of all other assigned tasks of the regular teacher.

E. SUBSTITUTE TEACHING PROCEDURE

- 1. Requests for per diem substitutes will be made in accordance with procedures established and promulgated by the District.
- 2. Requests for specific per diem substitutes by the building teacher who will be absent may be made and will be considered.
- 3. The Building Administrator will give serious consideration to negative comments by teachers with regard to the performance of particular substitutes.
- 4. Teachers who are on preferred eligible status, will be given first opportunity to fill any long-term or permanent substitute positions in the tenure area from which they were excessed.
- F. Term substitutes hired to replace specific teachers on leave of absence for a semester or more will immediately be placed in the bargaining unit with all fringe benefits.
 - If the term of employment is not known in advance, substitutes working in excess of twenty (20) consecutive days in a single given position will, as of the twenty-first day be entitled to salary, retroactive without fringe benefits except that they shall accrue sick leave at the rate of one day per month, also retroactive. There will be no carryover of said accrued sick leave to subsequent periods of employment.
- G. Per Diem substitutes who are not on the District's preferred eligibility list working in excess of twenty (20) consecutive days in a single given position will, as of the twenty-first day, be entitled to the first step of the BA/BS level of the district's salary schedule, retroactive without fringe benefits except that they shall accrue sick leave at the rate of one day per month, also retroactive. There will be no carryover of said accrued sick leave to subsequent periods of employment.

H. UNAVAILABILITY OF SUBSTITUTES

In the event that a substitute is unavailable for a classroom teacher, individual teachers might, by mutual consent, cover such classes. In that event, each teacher in the secondary schools shall be compensated at the rate of 0.1% of step 10-BS+60 of the current salary schedule per period of class coverage.

ARTICLE 12 ADMINISTRATIVE INTERNSHIP PROGRAM

- A. Subject to budgetary limitations, the District will endeavor to provide funds to conduct a program designed to train potential school administrators.
- B. The general framework of said program will be as follows: Up to ten (10) teacher applicants will, upon approval of the Superintendent of Schools, or his/her designee, be selected each year to participate in an Administrative Internship Training Program to be conducted during said school year.

- In selecting interns, if two or more applicants' qualifications are relatively equal, preference will be given to applicants from the Rome City School District.
- C. The selection of applicants to participate in the Administrative Internship Training Program shall be made by the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee. All applicants will have the option of consulting with the Superintendent after the final selection has been made.
- D. The interns selected shall have the right to return to the assignment they held before participating in the intern program with all tenure rights.
- E. The Association and the Superintendent agree that the purpose of the Administrative Intern Program is to train members in the various areas of school administration not including, however, participation in collective bargaining which involves the unit represented by THE ASSOCIATION
- F. No teacher presently employed by the District shall suffer any reduction in pay as the result of the implementation of this Article.

ARTICLE 13 MEETINGS

Teachers, whenever possible, shall be required to attend such meetings as may be called by the Superintendent of Schools, the Directors, and the Principals for the purpose of improving their teaching and for discussing matters of educational importance. Teachers must be excused from attending such meetings by the appropriate administrator. These meetings shall be announced at least four days prior to the date of the meeting. Occasionally, emergency meetings may require shorter notice. Whenever possible a written agenda, including the anticipated length of the meeting and the topics to be addressed will be distributed at least two days in advance of the meeting.

ARTICLE 14 SCHOOL CALENDAR

- A. School Calendars: Please refer to the back of the contract.
- B. The summer professional development day shall be specifically used for professional development and shall not be used for student instruction. The District Professional Development Team and the Rome Teachers Association shall decide on the format, structure, and topics for the additional professional development day within the goals developed by the Board of Education. The District Professional Development Team shall have the flexibility of identifying two separate days for Professional Development with the understanding that every unit member shall be required to attend one of said Professional Development Days. The Professional Development Team and the Rome Teachers Association shall also identify the grade level and/or subject area that will be assigned to each specific Professional Development Day. The Superintendent at his/her discretion may give permission for a unit member to attend a Professional Development Day to which they are not assigned. The District shall have input relative to the funding for the day, and the placement of the day on the calendar. These two days shall be a week day (not to include Labor Day or the designated July 4th holiday) (1) one day will be scheduled within ten (10) calendar days prior to the opening of school and one will be scheduled within ten (10) calendar days after the last day of school. Bargaining unit members shall be notified of the dates on which the professional development days are to be scheduled, within ten (10) days of the adoption of the school calendar by the Board of Education.

ARTICLE 15 USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

- A. <u>Association's Use of Buildings</u>: The Association shall be allowed to use school buildings provided it requests such use several days in advance, whenever possible, and providing such use will not conflict with previously scheduled school events. Such requests shall be cleared with the building principal when his/her building is to be used. If supplies are used or additional expenses are incurred because of such use, the Association will be responsible for these.
- B. <u>Faculty Bulletin Boards for Association Use</u>: There shall be faculty bulletin board space in each building of the school system to be used exclusively by the Association. No organization representing or purporting to represent employees in the negotiating unit represented by the Association shall have the use of the bulletin board and/or the school internal communication facilities except the Association and its affiliates.
- C. <u>Association Use of Interschool Mail and Mailboxes</u>: The Association shall have use of interschool mail facilities, electronic communication media, and faculty mailboxes for its affairs.
- D. <u>Use of Equipment</u>. The Association shall have the use of equipment and machines found in the Rome City School District if they request it in advance and if used in the normal location unless permission for removal is granted. This shall include but not limited to the following: photocopying machines, image-producing machines, audio-visual equipment, printing equipment and telephones for local calls by teachers for Association business. If supplies are used or additional expenses are incurred because of such use, the Association will be responsible for them.

ARTICLE 16 TEXTBOOKS AND REFERENCE WORKS

- A. <u>Adequate Textbooks Guaranteed</u>. The Superintendent agrees that adequate modern textbooks meeting accepted current educational curriculum standards will be ordered and/or provided in sufficient quantity and in adequate time to insure that each pupil in each class has textbooks in each subject for his/her own use as needed. Teachers will supervise the care and use of textbooks assigned to their students.
- B. <u>Supplementary Materials</u>. The Superintendent shall also furnish at the expense of the school district within budgetary limitations, all supplementary materials recommended by teachers and principals for use with textbooks.
- C. <u>Library Books</u>. All school libraries will be adequately stocked with reference works and other books in accordance with recommended standards and within budget limitations.
- D. <u>Selection and Principles</u>. Selection of textbooks and other instructional material to be used within a particular subject area shall be made by a committee expressly established for this purpose.

Said selection committee shall be composed of teachers jointly appointed by the Superintendent and the Association President. Appointments to the committee shall be made with prior consent of the appointee. A majority of the selection committee shall be certified teachers who perform classroom instruction within the subject area of the texts or materials to be considered and shall be full-time employees who utilize such texts or materials within the scope of their appointed positions in the Rome School District.

Any principal, teacher, director, or department chairman or teacher coordinator may suggest a change in textbooks or other instructional material within their subject areas, grade level, and/or schools. The appointment of a selection committee shall be affected upon the request of the Superintendent (or his/her designee) or the Association President.

The above-referenced committee shall be composed of appropriate bargaining unit members and administrators, as mutually agreed upon by the Association President and the Assistant

Superintendent for Curriculum & Instruction. Payment shall be made pursuant to the additional work rate specified in Article 40. Members of the committee shall sign a verification form prior to serving on the committee that outlines the amount of time that the Assistant Superintendent and Association President agree shall be the maximum time for which the bargaining unit members shall be paid.

Any system-wide or major changes in texts or instructional materials shall be made as stipulated in this Agreement.

Changes in such materials or textbooks or selection of new materials or textbooks may be suggested by the Superintendent or his/her designee, such as principal, director, or department chairman or teacher coordinator, and the teachers in that department or grade level. All of the above mentioned selections must follow these principles:

- 1. The Board of Education, as the governing body of the school district, is legally responsible for the adoption of instructional materials, textbooks, and library books. The Board of Education requires its professional staff to make selections in accordance with these basic principles. Selection shall be recommended by teachers, librarians, administration, and other professional staff with the final decision for purchase resting with the Superintendent of Schools, or his/her designee. Materials must meet criteria set forth herein to be purchased and used in the Rome Public Schools. Proposals for the scope of piloting will be an appropriate consideration for textbook selection committees.
- 2. Books and other reading matter shall be chosen for educational values of interest, information, and enlightenment of the pupils and shall be selected on the basis of suitability to the grade and interest level at which they are to be used.
- 3. There shall be the fullest practical provision of material presenting all points of view concerning the problems and issues of our times, local, national, and international; books or other reading material of sound factual authority shall not be denied to our students because of the race, nationality, or political or religious views of the writer.
- 4. Censorship of books shall be challenged in order to maintain the schools' responsibility to provide information and enlightenment. We believe it is the right and responsibility of our teachers to select materials which are carefully balanced to include all the points of view on controversial subjects.
- Although it is difficult to enumerate all those characteristics on which material may be judged, due regard shall be given to factual accuracy authoritativeness, integrity, stimulating presentation, creativeness, style, and fundamental purpose for which purchased.
- 6. Major criticisms of books or materials deemed objectionable should be brought to the attention of the Superintendent of Schools, preferably in writing. A copy of such criticism shall be forwarded to the Educational Policies Committee. Allegations thus submitted will be immediately considered by a committee of the faculty appointed by the Superintendent, such committee being in the subject matter field of the material under consideration. The Committee sitting with the Superintendent will render a decision based on the conformity of the subject matter to the aforementioned principles. Appeals from this decision may be made through the Superintendent to the Board of Education with whom the final responsibility rests.

An appointee of the Educational Policy Committee shall have the privilege of attending the above committee meeting as an observer.

ARTICLE 17 REQUISITIONS

Upon prior approval the Rome City School District shall reimburse a teacher for any unexpected or emergency expenses incurred by the teacher in purchasing classroom and instructional materials. Said teacher shall be reimbursed through regular administrative channels after completing a requisition form provided for this purpose.

ARTICLE 18 TEACHER PROTECTION

- A. A teacher shall have the right, without threat to his/her tenure, promotion, draft status, or any professional advantages which he/she may possess, to participate in any legal activities of the Association or collective negotiation with the Superintendent, to institute any grievance, complaint, or proceeding under this Agreement, to evaluate and criticize in a professional manner the policies and programs of the school system, and to voice opinion for or against a proposed or effective contract.
- B. A teacher shall be heard by the superior in any situation where the teacher desires to present information which he/she considers pertinent to the matter at hand.
- C. The private and personal life of a teacher is not within the appropriate concern of the Board or Administration except as is stated in relevant state law and the regulations of the Commissioner of Education and the action taken shall be consonant with such law and regulations. Where the applicability of the law and/or the regulations is not clear, any action taken by the Board or the Administration shall be subject to the grievance procedure.
- D. Teachers, as promptly as possible, shall be advised in a confidential manner of any significant complaint or accusation reported to the Superintendent which may be used in action against the teacher. In the event of such complaint, or action, the teacher or teachers involved may at the request of the teacher have the Association representation present at any formal or informal hearing. The Administration shall advise the teacher of this right and of the right to counsel at the time that the teacher is first informed of the complaint or accusation so that the teacher may exercise the right to representation and counsel.
- E. The Board agrees to pay all legal fees and expenses incurred by the teacher in defending himself/herself in any legal difficulty arising from the legal performance of his/her duties within the scope of his/her employment.
- F. A teacher is to promptly report to his/her principal or immediate supervisor any accident or injury occurring under his/her supervision.
- G. Teachers shall report, immediately and in writing to their principals or immediate supervisors all cases of assault and/or battery suffered by them in connection with their employment.
- H. Should an assault on a teacher occur as a direct result of his/her duties, and if it results in loss of time, the teacher shall be paid in full during the period of time lost due to the incident. Such paid absence shall not be deducted from any sick or personal leave to which the teacher is entitled.
- In cases of accident or such assault, the teacher shall be reimbursed for any medical costs or for costs or replacing or repairing dentures, eyeglasses, hearing aids, or any similar bodily appurtenances not covered by workmen's compensation, which are destroyed, damaged, or lost while the teacher was acting in the legal discharge of his/her duties within the scope of his/her employment.
- J. Teachers shall be reimbursed for the cost of clothing or other personal property destroyed, damaged, or lost as a result of an accident or an assault suffered by the teacher while the teacher was acting in the legal discharge of his/her duties within the scope of his/her employment.

- K. In the event that any school building is evacuated in whole or in part by reason of any report or threat of damage thereto by bomb, fire, or other lethal instrument or incident, the teacher's first responsibility is to evacuate the students as quickly as possible according to the prearranged plan for that emergency. After evacuation, the teacher shall report to proper authorities anything of a suspicious nature observed during the evacuation, but teachers shall not be required to participate in any search for such lethal or destructive instrument and shall be required to evacuate the building while such search is under way.
- L. No teacher shall be held responsible, financially or otherwise, for damage, loss or destruction of monies, building and classroom materials, furniture, or articles unless the teacher is proved negligent.
- M. The Administration shall notify the Association of the probability of layoffs and subcontracting and provide the opportunity for discussion of alternatives and courses of action to maximize the amelioration of the necessary actions.
- N. In determining seniority for purposes of this Agreement, the seniority date for each employee shall be established as beginning with his/her most recent date of hire (i.e. the date the employee actually commenced work in the District).
- O. A teacher on special assignment shall:
 - 1. accrue seniority in the tenure area that he/she was in prior to going on special assignment.
 - suffer no professional disadvantages as a result of being placed on special assignment.
 - 3. return to the position and building that he/she held immediately prior to being placed on special assignment.
- P. When a teacher is summoned to a meeting with an administrator or supervisor, the purpose of which is disciplining or reprimanding said teacher, either verbally or in writing, reduction in compensation or deprivation of professional advantage, the administrator/supervisor shall inform the teacher in writing of the right to have an Association representative present and shall schedule such meeting to facilitate the availability of an Association representative. If a teacher desires to pursue a grievance as a result of the substance of such a meeting, the teacher may consider such a meeting to be the informal step of Level One of the Grievance Procedure in this Agreement and proceed to the next step.

ARTICLE 19 TEACHING HOURS

A. TEACHER'S WORK DAY

- 1. Teachers shall report to their respective school at least five (5) minutes before the start of the school morning and afternoon.
- 2. All teachers shall remain a minimum of Five (5) minutes after the dismissal bell with the following exceptions:
 - a. The building principal shall have the right to excuse teachers from remaining after school the Five (5) minutes designated above if the teacher does not have a prior professional commitment.
 - b. Special teachers shall adhere to the schedule in the building to which they are assigned unless the teacher has a prior professional commitment.
- 3. Teachers shall devote themselves faithfully to the duties of their positions during the above mentioned school day.
- 4. Any problems arising from the teacher's work day which cannot be resolved through administrative channels may be referred to the Grievance Committee for resolution.

- 5. If the District contemplates any significant changes in bus schedules or instructional hours in any of the District's schools, it shall notify the Association, which shall then have the right to open negotiations with regard to any impact such changes might have on the work day.
- 6. Bargaining unit members assigned to elementary schools shall have at least two (2) half days in June, designated in the school calendar, to complete duties as they see fit. Unit members shall not be required to remain in the building, and may complete their professional duties as they see fit.

B. ELEMENTARY SCHOOL PERIODS

- 1. Elementary teachers will be assigned at least one planning period of at least thirty (30) minutes each school day.
- 2. In the event of scheduling conflicts which impact assignments of thirty (30) minutes planning time for one or more teachers, principals shall consult with their building representatives in an effort to resolve such. Any resolution that would violate the contract shall be subject to approval by the Superintendent and the Association President.
- 3. If the scheduling conflicts cannot be resolved pursuant to paragraph 2, or in the event the special teacher is absent and a substitute is not available, coverage shall be provided on an individual basis as follows:
 - a. By monitors or teachers assistants, if available.
 - b. From available teacher volunteers, if any.
 - c. If no relief is available after resorting to a or b above, the teacher shall remain in the classroom and the principal shall insure the teacher receives fifteen (15) minutes relief during the school day for personal needs and the teacher shall be reimbursed for the remaining fifteen (15) minutes at the hourly rate of 1.5 times the secondary rate described in Article 11, Section H.1. and prorated for any additional time worked.
 - d. Whenever special area teachers (i.e. reading, speech, resource, etc.) are pulled from their regular daily schedule to cover a classroom, they will be compensated at the additional rate of \$25 per day.
- 4. Every elementary teacher shall have the option of leaving his/her classroom when a special teacher is in charge of the class. Such period is to be used as a preparation period.
 - a. Elementary school teachers shall have one (1) thirty (30) minute free lunch period daily, during which time the teacher may leave the building.
 - b. A teacher's lunch period or any part of a teacher's lunch period shall not be considered as preparation period.
- 5. In the event elementary music teachers are required to teach a performance group in more than one school in any school year, such teacher shall receive a stipend of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) as specified in Article 40 of the Agreement. A performance group shall be a group of students which, with the approval of the District, the teacher prepares for performance before an audience; such preparation and performance must involve time outside of normal school hours such as after school rehearsals and/or evening performances.
- 6. During special school day sessions of one half day, in-servicing days or delayed openings, the district will not be required to provide the prep periods described in Article 19. However, over the course of an instructional year the district agrees, upon the mutual, written consent of the Superintendent and Association President, to make adjustments to scheduling so that the loss of preparation periods is equally balanced.

C. SECONDARY SCHOOL PERIODS

- 1. Academic subject-area secondary school teachers shall have nine (9) periods in the each day as follows:
 - a. Five (5) instruction periods.
 - b. One (1) duty-free lunch period during which time the teacher may leave the building.
 - c. Two (2) preparation periods the length of a regular class period, during which they will not be assigned to any other duties.
 - d. One (1) (extra assignment) period which may require supervision of pupils, but which will not require instruction.
 - e. A teacher shall not be required to conduct five (5) straight instruction periods except by mutual agreement.
- 2. A secondary school teacher may be assigned a homeroom assignment exclusive of extra assignment period as defined in subdivision d, above. Such homeroom responsibility shall consist of those duties required for attendance and school bulletins.
- 3. A teacher may agree to an assignment of a sixth instruction period in lieu of an extra assignment period or be compensated at least 1/6th of the day's salary for each such period.
- 4. During special school day sessions of one half day, in-servicing days or delayed openings, the district will not be required to provide the prep periods described in Article 19. However, over the course of an instructional year the district agrees, upon the mutual, written consent of the Superintendent and Association President, to make adjustments to scheduling so that the loss of preparation periods is equally balanced.

D. MANDATED TESTS

When teachers are required to correct Basic Minimum Competency Tests, they shall be additionally compensated at the rate of one dollar (\$1.00) for each such Basic Minimum Competency Test they review and correct upon satisfactory proof to the District of the number of tests corrected.

Elementary teachers will be paid (\$1.00 per) for the correction of mandated state tests.

- E. For courses of study which are duplicated at two or more secondary schools in the District, one teacher from each building impacted will be responsible for constructing the final examination in that course. The procedure for constructing such exams will be as follows:
 - 1. Teacher tests preparators will formulate tests for each track (honors, regents and non-regents) as necessary, for each grade level.
 - 2. Two release days or up to two days financial remuneration will be provided for each teacher test preparer. The daily rate of pay for those preparers selecting that option will be the current Rome per diem certified substitute teacher's rate. (Additional time may be provided with the approval of the Superintendent.)

ARTICLE 20 ACADEMIC FREEDOM AND INDIVIDUAL FREEDOM

- A. Teachers shall teach the courses of study and use the basic textbooks adopted by the Board of Education and shall use the materials and methods prescribed by the Superintendent of Schools.
- B. Teachers shall teach fully the course of study for each grade and each subject and shall be granted academic and individual freedom as described below.

- C. It is the duty of the parties to educate the youth in the democratic traditions, to foster a recognition of individual freedom and social responsibility, to inspire meaningful awareness of and respect for the Constitution and the Bill of Rights, and to instill appreciation of the values of individual rights, personality and property. In the exercise of these freedoms within acceptable standards of professional educational responsibility, the teacher may discuss his/her own subject and related subjects in the classroom in an atmosphere which is free from undue censorship and artificial restraints and one in which academic freedom for teacher and student is encouraged.
- D. Academic freedom shall be guaranteed to teachers, and no limitations shall be placed upon studying, investigating, presenting and interpreting facts and ideas concerning man, human society, the physical and biological world and other branches of learning as defined in part C. It shall be the policy of the Superintendent and Association to maintain and encourage full freedom, within the law, of speech, inquiry teaching and research.
- E. The Superintendent shall provide academic freedom from interference in grading of students. The mark given by a teacher is the record of the teacher's evaluative judgment of the work of the pupil. The teacher shall be considered the expert in evaluating the work of pupils and the integrity of the teacher in marking the pupil will be respected.

ARTICLE 21 PUPIL DISCIPLINE

- A. The Superintendent and Association recognize that discipline and pupil behavior are important in the learning situation and school environment. Discipline in the classroom should have as its objective the students' adherence to accepted rules of conduct, behavior, and order as set by the teacher.
- B. Each teacher is required to maintain appropriate pupil behavior so that the objectives of training for self-discipline and individual responsibility may be realized and a favorable climate for learning may exist. It is recognized that discipline problems are less likely to occur in classes which are well planned and well taught where a high level of student interest is maintained. No teacher or class shall be required to tolerate any acts of gross misconduct, including but not limited to flagrant discourtesy, abusive language, acts of violence or deliberate insubordination. Persistent misbehavior may make the continued presence of the student in the classroom intolerable. In such cases, the well being of the class as a whole must be the prime responsibility.
- C. Teachers shall practice such discipline in the school as would be exercised by a kind, judicious parent recognizing, however, that corporal punishment is prohibited by the policies of the Board of Education and the Board of Regents.
- D. The teacher may use such measures with a student as are necessary and reasonable to protect himself/herself against attack or assault. Any case of assault on a teacher shall be promptly reported to the Superintendent or his/her designated representative. The Board will provide legal advice to the teacher of his/her rights and obligations with respect to such an assault.

E. SCHOOL DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE

- 1. School discipline policies are the responsibility of the building principal.
- 2. In each school, a Discipline Committee of at least two (2) classroom teachers and the principal shall be formed to meet within two school weeks after the committee's formation and at any time deemed necessary by the committee's members. These classroom teachers shall be chosen, one by the principal and the remaining by the faculty of each school. This selection shall take place at a faculty meeting during the last month of the preceding school year or within the first two weeks of the new school year.
- 3. It shall be the function of this committee to cooperate with the principal in drawing up policies and practices of good discipline in their school, and to inform the teachers in writing of the policies and practices being used in their school.

- 4. A program shall be set up by this committee to inform and give guidance to the new teachers in the area of student discipline.
- 5. A teacher experiencing a serious discipline problem shall have the right to request and encourage the principal to bring it to the attention of said committee.
- The committee shall have the right to request and encourage the principal to call upon the services of guidance counselors and other specialized personnel to be in attendance at the meetings of said committee when it appears that the expertise of such specialists would be beneficial to the committee and would assist them in making the most prudent decision.

F. REMOVAL OF PUPIL FROM CLASSROOM

- 1. A teacher may send a pupil from the class to the principal when the student's behavior is such as to endanger himself/herself or others, interferes with the learning of others or makes him/her insubordinate or disorderly. Pursuant to the Rome City School District Code of Conduct, this removal shall be for a period of time up to two (2) hours. In such cases, the teacher shall furnish the principal, as promptly as possible, full details of the incident. Such a student will not be permitted to return to his/her class until the matter has been reviewed by the proper administrator. The principal shall be required to discuss and review the matter with the teacher, whenever possible, before readmission of the student to class is effected. In severe cases, other appropriate specialized personnel shall be consulted before a decision regarding readmission to class is effected.
- 2. A teacher can request the permanent removal of a pupil from the classroom. Such requests shall be directed to the principal or his/her designated supervisor.
 - a. Permanent removal of a child from a classroom shall be the decision of the principal who shall significantly consult with the teacher and school specialist concerned. It is recognized that this section does not deal with permanent removal from school, but only from a particular classroom, with the hope of placing the child in a more compatible classroom situation which would be to his/her advantage.
 - When it is determined that a child is so disruptive that proper classroom instruction cannot take place, the child shall be removed from the class to receive special services and instruction until such time as he/she can return to a regular classroom situation.
- 3. The Superintendent and the Association agree that student discipline policy tools, and their consistent application needs immediate attention. The Superintendent and the Association president shall immediately jointly appoint an Ad Hoc committee to resolve these issues.
- G. To help problem children, the teacher may request and every effort will be made by the principal to secure, as rapidly as possible, the services of special counselors, social workers, law enforcement personnel, physicians or other professional persons.

ARTICLE 22 TEACHER-ADMINISTRATION LIAISON

A. DEFINITION AND PURPOSE

The building representatives elected in the manner specified by the constitution of the Association shall be the liaison between the teachers of the school and the building principal, when it affects terms and conditions of employment.

If the contract negotiated and ratified by the Superintendent and Association is to be implemented to the best interests of both parties, it is essential that the contents of the agreement be thoroughly communicated to teachers, administrators and supervisors.

B. DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITY

- 1. It is the responsibility of the Superintendent to make familiar to local school administrators the provisions of the agreement.
- 2. It is the responsibility of the Association to educate the membership to all rights and responsibilities of the agreement.

C. PROCEDURE

- 1. The liaison(s) shall meet with the principal whenever necessary to review and discuss school problems and practices within the school relative to terms and conditions of employment.
- 2. The liaison(s) with the advice and consent of the building principal shall have the right to schedule, as described in the article on use of school facilities, Association meetings in the school. Advance notice of these meetings will be given as well as the planned agenda.
- 3. The liaison(s) shall be permitted to meet with individual teachers as long as it does not interfere with instructional program.
- 4. In event that a question of violation of any article of the agreement should arise, the teacher-administration liaison(s) and/or teacher may be the agent to bring the matter to the attention of the grievance committee.
- 5. Orientation of teachers to the terms and conditions of this Agreement will be the responsibility of the Association.

ARTICLE 23 ETHICS

- A. The teacher participates in the formulation of general school policy under the leadership of the supervisor and administrator.
- B. The teacher, administrator and Superintendent transact all official business through proper channels and hold inviolate all confidential information. Such channels must be open to all requested communications.
- C. The teacher, supervisor, administrator and Superintendent recognize their obligations to develop growing appreciation, understanding and implementation of the principles of democracy. They refrain from using the school to promote personal views on religion, race or partisan policies.
- D. The teacher, supervisor, administrator and Superintendent shall give due notice in fair time in all cases of appointment, resignation or termination of service.
- E. Professional courtesy shall be observed by both teacher and administrator at all times.
- F. The teacher, supervisor, administrator and Superintendent shall avoid disparagement of fellow professionals in education.
- G. The teacher, supervisor, administrator and Superintendent shall be impartial in all relationships with the pupil pertinent to race, creed, sex, national origin, age or marital status.
- H. The teacher shall receive from the administrator professional appraisal of his/her work and receive help with his/her problems as requested by the teacher. The Superintendent shall apply supervisory assistance.
- I. The teacher may actively participate in the work of local, state and national professional educational associations.

- J. Ethical procedures shall be used by the teacher, supervisor, administrator and Superintendent in securing positions and filling positions and in maintaining harmonious working relationships.
- K. The professional staff shall dress in a manner consistent with the Commissioner of Education's ruling on such matters.

ARTICLE 24 IN-SERVICE PROGRAMS

- A. The continuing improvement of the quality of instruction should be a vital concern of every school system. The staff of the Rome Public Schools will encourage this through In-service Education conducted by qualified personnel.
- B. The Association shall appoint a committee of six (6) to study the area of In-service courses to be offered to the teachers of the Rome Public Schools.
 - 1. The committee shall be empowered to make recommendations in the name of the Association to the Superintendent.
 - 2. The committee shall make its initial report by December 1.
- C. The courses of study, approved by this committee and the Superintendent shall be recommended to the Board in writing thirty (30) days prior to budget submission date to be included as a budgetary item.
- D. Teachers and nurses who complete in-service education courses approved by the Board shall receive credit, as recommended by the committee to the Superintendent for purposes of administering the salary schedules.
- E. Teachers selected as instructors or coordinators will be compensated for instructional and planning time as determined by the committee and the Superintendent.
- F. An In-service program will be offered by the Superintendent in each of the years of the contract.

ARTICLE 25 CURRICULUM PLANNING

- A. The professional staff at all levels shall have the right to significantly participate in the formulation of curriculum changes and in educational planning. Any such changes must fulfill the requirements of the State Education Law and be in keeping with the recommendations of the State Education Department. These changes shall be approved by the Rome Board of Education before becoming a part of the curriculum.
- B. When an area of curriculum needs to be studied, as determined by the Superintendent with input from the Association President, a committee shall be selected to institute appropriate changes. Curriculum Planning Committees shall be selected by the Superintendent and the Association President. Elementary Curriculum Committees shall be comprised of 5 classroom teachers whenever possible, while secondary Curriculum Committees shall be comprised of at least one teacher from each secondary building affected or by two teachers from those subject areas taught in only one building. Committees shall also include an equal number of other professional staff which will include directors, coordinators or principals. SUCH COMMITTEE WILL:
 - 1. Enlist the services of other members of the professional staff for suggestions, opinions and ideas that will aid them in formulating the curriculum.
 - 2. Evaluate and recommend appropriate audio-visual materials.

- 3. Recommend textbooks to appropriate personnel.
- 4. Whenever practicable, all curriculum planning will take place during the summer and participants will be paid at the summer school rate.
- 5. After approval by the particular department or grade level and the Superintendent and Board of Education, the changes or courses of study, shall then be made available to all personnel involved in the implementation of the specific curriculum. It shall contain a list of available resources and indicate where suggested supplementary materials may be found.
- 6. The professional staff will follow the curriculum as developed by the committee and approved as defined in Item 5.

ARTICLE 26 MONITOR

- A. The Association and Board agree that a teacher's primary responsibility is the contribution he/she can make to children's educational development and that his/her energies should be utilized to this end. It is, therefore, recognized that the purpose of teacher aides, henceforth called monitors, is to relieve teachers from non-teaching duties. No monitor or other non-certificated person shall be used to replace a professional staff member or assume duties which are directly associated with the child's educational development. Monitors shall be hired with due regard to their ability. Although a professional staff member must be readily available, a monitor does not have to be under the direct physical supervision of a professional staff member. Monitors will work in the following areas where their duties are custodial, clerical or otherwise of a nature not requiring a professional staff member.
 - 1. Cafeteria supervision.
 - 2. Bus duty.
 - 3. Playground supervision.
 - 4. Clerical Work.
 - 5. Inventory of books and supplies.
 - 6. Corridor supervision.

The foregoing enumeration is for the purpose of illustration of the type of duties a monitor may perform and not a total list of those duties.

ARTICLE 27 TEACHERS OF STUDENTS IN 12 MONTH PROGRAM

A. HIRING

All openings for teaching students in the 12 month program will be advertised in the same manner as provided for vacancies, transfers, reassignments or promotions. Teachers who have applied for such positions will be notified of their eligibility to teach students in the 12 month program by June 1st along with a list of the staff, and all other rules relating to the filling of regular positions by reassignment, transfer or promotion shall apply with respect to teaching students in the 12 month program.

B. SELECTION

Subject to there being sufficient enrollment.

1. All teachers who taught students in the 12 month program the prior year will be first considered to return to a position unless they taught outside their area(s) of certification.

2. All vacancies will be filled in accordance with the method of selection criteria listed below. All other criteria being equal among competing candidates, seniority in the 12 month program will prevail and, if that is equal, then District-wide seniority will be the deciding factor.

Criteria

- a. Teachers in the Rome Public School System who teach full-time in the particular subjects and grade level during the regular school year and have taught students in the 12 month program.
- b. Teachers in the Rome School District who were selected to teach students in the 12 month program the prior year but were not utilized due to low enrollment.
- c. Teachers in the Rome Public School System who teach full-time in the particular subjects and grade level during the regular school year.
- d. Teachers in the Rome School District having certification in the subject area, who have previously taught students in the 12 month program, but are not regular teachers of that subject area and/or grade level.
- e. Teachers in the Rome City School District having certification in the subject area, who have never taught students in the 12 month program, and are not regular teachers of that subject area and/or grade level.
- f. If no teacher having certification in the subject area is available for assignment in the 12 month program after the application of the foregoing criteria, recruitment and hiring of certified personnel for the necessary positions is then at the discretion of the District.
- g. If no certified teacher can be found, then uncertified applicants from the Rome City School District will be given preference over those from outside.
- C. In case there are cuts in teaching positions in the 12 month program, the person(s) with the least 12 month program seniority in the subject area to be cut shall be laid off and shall be first rehired should the positions be reinstated within the same period of time as allowed for preferred eligible status under section 2510 of the Education Law.
- D. Once a teacher has been notified of employment in the 12 month program and has accepted such employment, he/she shall be available for the period specified and shall be employed in an appropriate professional capacity for the full period and salary specified herein unless the teacher voluntarily agrees to work for less than the full period, in which case, the salary shall be reduced pro rata.

ARTICLE 28 TEACHING CONDITIONS

A. TEACHING FACILITIES THE BOARD OF EDUCATION WILL PROVIDE

- 1. Space in or near each classroom for adequate storage of instructional materials and records, supplies and personal belongings.
- 2. Safe and healthful conditions under which teachers can carry out their professional duties.
- 3. An adequate but separate smoke-free area in each school building for the use of teachers for eating their lunch apart from the students.
- 4. Well-lighted, clean and smoke-free teacher rest rooms with an assurance of privacy.

- 5. A room or space set aside in each school for the planning and preparation of materials for teachers. Said room should be a smoke-free environment.
- 6. Adequate blackboard and bulletin board space in every classroom.
- 7. An appropriately furnished room(s) to be reserved for the use of teachers as a faculty lounge(s). Said room(s) will be in addition to the aforementioned teacher work area and will also be a smoke-free environment.
- 8. A separate serviceable desk for each classroom and/or homeroom teacher.
- 9. Copies, exclusively for teacher's use, of all texts used in each of the courses he/she is to teach.
- 10. Each teacher shall have reasonable access to copying equipment necessary for the performance of his/her every day responsibilities.

B. COLLECTION AND HANDLING OF MONEY

- 1. Teachers will not be required to solicit, collect, handle or account for monies or merchandise from students, parents, other teachers and employees of the Board for non-educational purposes. This includes such things as money for photographs, money for P.T.A., service agencies, drives, etc.
- 2. Teachers may, when necessary, collect and transmit money to be used for educational purposes, i.e., books, milk, cafeteria, field trips, etc., only when the collection and transmission of this money could not be reasonably achieved by present non-teaching personnel.
- 3. Each school shall have a location designated by the principal for the deposit of monies and storage of materials of a confidential nature.

C. CLASSROOM VISITATION

Classroom teachers may be requested and may also request to visit other classrooms with the prior approval of the appropriate administrators and the visited teachers. When a teacher is absent from class for a classroom visit, as approved by the Administration, a substitute teacher shall be provided and the teacher shall not suffer any loss of pay or leave.

D. TRANSPORTATION OF PUPILS BY TEACHERS

Teachers will not be required to drive pupils to activities which take place away from the school building. Teachers may do so voluntarily, however, with the advance approval of their principal or immediate supervisor. In such event, the teacher will be relieved of all personal liability for any accident which may occur in connection with said trip.

E. NON-TEACHING DUTIES

The Superintendent and Association acknowledge that a teacher's primary responsibility is to teach and that his/her energies, to the extent possible, should be utilized to this end. Therefore, the Superintendent and Association agree that professional staff members will not be routinely asked or assigned to do non-professional duties except in unusual circumstances.

- 1. Non-professional duties shall be defined as: Any job assignment that should normally be carried out by a non-professional employee, or any job or assignment that should normally be carried on by the maintenance, clerical or janitorial staff.
- 2. Any professional staff member who is given any assignment or duty he/she deems unprofessional may report this to the Grievance Committee.

ARTICLE 29 ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

- A. Each building representative shall have the right to schedule Association meetings through the building principal before or after school or during the lunch period in his or her building. Such meetings shall be scheduled so as not to interfere with the normal operation of the building.
- B. The Association will be allowed twenty-two (22) days per year, cumulative during the life of the contract, to be used for business vitally connected with the welfare of the Association. The President of the Association will be allowed one-half (1/2) day per week cumulative during the life of the contract. Although it is recognized that the President of the Association or his/her designee may sometimes need additional released time to conduct Association business, it shall be without cost to the Board or loss of instruction time unless authorized by the Superintendent of Schools. The ASSOCIATION may utilize up to ten additional days per year upon exhaustion of the above pool of days. For each such day used the Association will reimburse the District for the actual cost of the substitute teacher.
- C. Whenever members of the negotiating unit, including Association representatives, are scheduled by the parties to participate during working hours in conferences, meetings or in negotiations, they shall suffer no loss in pay or leave.
- D. The President of the Rome Teachers Association or his/her designated representative will attend regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Education and shall be provided a copy of the agenda when it becomes available.
- E. The Association shall be given a place on the agenda of regularly scheduled building faculty meetings for reports and announcements.
- F. The Association shall be actively involved in the recruitment of new teachers.
- G. The Association shall be given a place on the agenda of the orientation program for new teachers. The Association and the Superintendent will further develop the orientation program so that new teachers will be more readily acclimated to the educational system of the Rome City School District.
- H. Members of the Association will be granted time off without loss of pay when attending grievance hearings held at a mutually agreed upon time or called by an arbitrator.
- I. There will be no reprisals of any kind taken against any teacher by reason of his/her membership in the Association or participation in any of its legal activities.
- J. Duly authorized representatives of the Association and its affiliates shall be permitted to transact official organization business on school property at all reasonable times, provided that this shall not interfere with or interrupt normal school activities.
- K. In formulating designs and plans for the construction of new school buildings and/or the material alteration of existing school facilities, the Board, the Administration and the architects will consult with the Association and representative teachers of those grade levels and specialists to be affected thereby, and the recommendations and suggestions of such committee will be given full and thorough consideration in formulating such plans. After revision of such committee recommendations another meeting will be held with the teachers' committee and an attempt to reconcile any differences of opinion will be made.
- L. The Association will be allowed the equivalent of one conference day for in-service training and/or teacher orientation.

- M. Whenever the Board is considering a proposed school budget, it will give notice to the Association prior to any decision with respect thereto and will give the Association the opportunity to meet with either the Finance Committee of the Board or such other representatives as the Board may select to discuss the Board's contemplated proposed budget.
- N. Information available to the Superintendent will be made available to THE ASSOCIATION upon request unless it is of a confidential nature.
- O. Up to three teachers per year designated by the Association shall, upon request, be granted leaves of absence without pay for Association activities. Up to two such teachers shall be granted leaves to serve in elected statewide or national office for up to two terms of office not to exceed four years. An additional teacher shall be granted a leave of up to two years to engage in local, state or national association activities other than elected office. Upon return from this leave, such teacher will be allowed one step on the salary schedule. Any request for such leave will be filed in writing by June 1 of the year that the leave is desired.

ARTICLE 30 DEPARTMENT RIGHTS

- A. Each teacher who is a member of a specific department shall be accorded full participation in the formulation and development of policies and practices affecting terms and conditions of employment and shall have a right and obligation to significantly participate in the initiation, development and implementation of the education program of that department to the fullest extent outlined in this Agreement as pertains to:
 - 1. Curriculum.
 - 2. Selection of methods and materials.
 - 3. Establishment of in-service courses.
 - 4. Planning and remodeling facilities.
 - 5. Arranging for department meetings.
 - 6. Notification of vacancies.
 - 7. Other education matters as may involve the specific department.
- B.. There shall be the following Teacher Coordinators:

Secondary:

7-8 English

9-12 English

7-8 Math

9-12 Math

7-8 Social Studies

9-12 Social Studies

7-8 Science

9-12 Science

7-8 Foreign Language

9-12 Foreign Language

Technology/Family & Consumer Science/Business

7-8 Special Education

9-12 Special Education

Guidance 7-12

Elementary:

One per grade level (K, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6)

Pre K

K-4 Special Education 5-6 Special Education

Guidance PK-6

District Wide:

Art

Health Library Music Nurses

Physical Education

English as a Second Language

- C. Teacher Coordinators shall be elected on a bi-annual basis in accordance with the following procedures.
 - 1. Each year, the first week of May, a listing shall be posted of all those coordinator positions available.

Those eligible to vote would be:

- a. Current, active members of the department. (This includes part-time).
- b. Those people on sabbatical leave.

Those ineligible to vote would be:

- a. Teachers on special assignment.
- b. Teachers on unpaid leave.

Those eligible to run are:

a. Anyone who is a current member of the department, excluding term subs.

b. Anyone who has notified the District that they are returning from a leave and have been assigned to that particular department.

c. Anyone returning from a teacher on special assignment position.

d. A person who has requested a transfer within the District and has been confirmed for the requested position the following year.

Eligibility to vote will be determined by May 15th and elections should be held by June 1st.

- D. If a coordinator is incapacitated or absent for one month or more, he/she shall be replaced on a temporary basis with pro-rated compensation by a member of the department.
- E. Teacher Coordinators shall be subject to the same standards of performance applicable to other instructional positions. Teacher Coordinators shall be supervised by the Assistant to the Superintendent for Instruction/Curriculum and the building principal, and may be administratively removed during the school year for substandard performance, subject to the grievance procedure. Should the Superintendent desire to administratively remove a Teacher Coordinator, a committee made up of the Assistant to the Superintendent for Instruction/Curriculum, the President of the Association, and a member of the affected department, agreed to by the Superintendent and Association President, shall decide on the employee's individual status as a Teacher Coordinator.

Teacher Coordinators will be responsible for: curriculum work, textbook selection committee, coordination of programming, budget input as requested, and dissemination of information, mentoring, Superintendent's Day activities, and other duties.

In this article, department shall mean grade level for elementary teachers.

The Nurse Coordinator acts as a liaison between Professional Registered Nurses, the Nursing Administrator, and the RCSD Medical Director. The following outlines the specific responsibilities of the Nurse Coordinator.

- Responsibilities with nurses: Conduct monthly nurses' meeting (Compile agenda, Complete minutes and Disseminate information). Assist in compiling and maintaining nurse procedure manual; Facilitate professional development and continuing education including arranging classes for Superintendent's Conference Days; assist with on-site orientation for new nurse employees and substitutes.
- 2. Responsibilities with Nursing Administrator: Assist in reviewing health care needs of students; Assist in establishing plan to provide appropriate nursing care in schools; Act as resource in interpretation of nursing procedures. and Communicate changes in state mandates applicable to the school setting.
- 3. Responsibilities with RCSD: Collaborate with administration in regards to NYS changes in nursing practice laws; Review district policy pertaining to medical practice as requested; Assist in writing policy; Participate on district Health and Safety Committee and Attend teacher coordinator meetings.
- F. Coordinators will have up to 5 days released time per year to assist with their duties; the days will be coordinated through the Assistant Superintendent for Instruction/Curriculum's Office.

ARTICLE 31 POSITIONS IN SUMMER AND EVENING SCHOOLS

A. APPLICATION FOR HIRING

All openings for summer school and evening school positions will be advertised in the same manner as provided for vacancies, transfers, reassignments, or promotions. Teachers who have applied for such positions will be notified of their eligibility to teach summer school by June 1st along with a list of the staff and subject area, and all other rules relating to the filling of regular positions by having reassignment, transfer or promotion shall apply with respect to summer and evening school. Summer school and evening school openings shall be publicized as soon as possible. A tentative written contract shall be made July 1st for summer school openings and no later than September 1st for evening school openings.

B. METHOD OF SELECTION

Subject to there being summer school and enrollment:

- 1. All teachers who taught summer school the prior year will be first considered to return to a summer school position unless they taught outside their area(s) of certification.
- 2. All vacancies will be filled in accordance with the method of selection criteria listed below. All other criteria being equal among competing candidates, summer school seniority will prevail and, if that is equal, then district-wide seniority will be the deciding factor.

Selection Criteria

- a. Teachers in the Rome Public School System who teach full-time in the particular subjects and grade level during the regular school year and have taught summer school.
- b. Teachers in the Rome Public School System who teach in the particular subject area and grade level during the regular school year.
- c. Teachers in the Rome City School District who were selected to teach summer school the prior year and not utilized due to low enrollment.
- d. Teachers in the Rome School System having recognized competence in the subject area, who have previously taught summer school, but are not regular teachers of that subject area and/or grade level.

- e. Teachers in the Rome Public School System having recognized competence in the subject area, who have not previously taught summer school, and are not regular teachers of that subject and/or grade level.
- f. If no teacher having recognized competence in the subject area is available for summer school assignment after application of the foregoing criteria, recruitment and hiring for summer school positions is then at the discretion of the summer school principal.
- C. In case there are cuts in summer school positions, the person(s) with the least summer school seniority in the subject area to be cut shall be first laid off and shall be first rehired should the position be reinstated within the same period of time as allowed for preferred eligible status under section 2510 of the Education Law.

D. MUTUAL COMMITMENT FOR SUMMER AND EVENING SCHOOL TERM

Once a teacher has been notified of summer school employment and has accepted such employment, he/she shall be available for the period specified and shall be employed in an appropriate professional capacity for the full period and salary specified herein in Article 40.I,2 unless the teacher voluntarily agrees to work for less than the full period, in which case, the salary shall be reduced pro rata.

E. Any teacher who works registering students for summer school, but is not employed due to lack of enrollment, shall be compensated at the rate of 1/30th of the summer school rate for each day of registration worked.

ARTICLE 32

SUPERVISORY ASSISTANCE, TEACHER OBSERVATION, EVALUATION AND RECORDS

A. OBJECTIVE OF OBSERVATION

The primary objective of observing teachers is to improve the quality of instruction.

B. CRITERIA USED IN OBSERVATION

The criteria for teacher observation shall be generally limited to and directed at the teacher's ability to teach in an effective manner. Effective teaching is not limited to or synonymous with any one particular method or technique of instruction. The observation of teachers will be based primarily on those criteria set forth in the observation form contained herein.

C. OUTSIDE ACTIVITY NOT A CRITERIA IN OBSERVATION

No outside activities shall be a criteria in teacher observation.

D. PERSONNEL MAKING OBSERVATIONS

Only qualified members of the certified staff shall be used to conduct observations of teachers, and no observation will be made by persons who are not certificated for the position being observed or the administrative position in which they are acting in making said observation. The following guidelines shall be followed in these observations:

- 1. Observations may be conducted by any certified administrator not a member of the bargaining unit.
- 2. Tenured teachers who receive a clearly unsatisfactory observation which contains inherently adverse criticism of the teacher's performance may request and will be granted another observation by a different administrator.

E. OBSERVATION REPORT FORM

No substitutions, additions or any other modifications of the printed form, except to create additional space for comments, shall be given to the teacher. In cases where an observation indicates performance is unsatisfactory or in need of improvement, the teacher will be advised in accordance with the following steps:

- 1. Why the particular phase of the teaching process was not reported to be satisfactory.
- 2. What specific supervisory assistance was given to improve the phase of teaching that was not found to be satisfactory.
- 3. Suggest positive recommendations for further growth and development.

F. OBJECTIVE OF EVALUATION

The primary objective of evaluating teachers is to improve the quality of instruction.

G. CRITERIA USED IN EVALUATION

The criteria for teacher evaluation shall be generally limited to and directed at the teacher's ability to teach in an effective manner. Effective teaching is not limited to or synonymous with any one particular method or technique of instruction. The evaluation of teachers will be based primarily on those criteria set forth in the evaluation form contained herein.

H. OUTSIDE ACTIVITY NOT A CRITERIA IN EVALUATION

No outside activities shall be a criteria in teacher evaluation.

I. PERSONNEL MAKING EVALUATIONS

Only qualified members of the certified staff shall be used to evaluate teachers, and no evaluation will be made by persons who are not certificated for the position being evaluated or the administrative position in which they are acting in making said evaluation. The following guidelines shall be followed in these evaluations:

- 1. Evaluations may be conducted by any certified administrator not a member of the bargaining unit.
- 2. Tenured teachers who receive a clearly unsatisfactory evaluation which contains inherently adverse criticism of the teacher's performance may request and will be granted another evaluation by a different administrator.

J. EVALUATION REPORT FORM

No substitutions, additions or any other modifications of the printed form, except to create additional spaces for comments, shall be given to the teacher. In cases where an evaluation indicates performance is unsatisfactory the teacher will be advised in accordance with the following steps:

- 1. Why the particular phase of the teaching process was not reported to be satisfactory
- 2. What specific supervisory assistance was given to improve the phase of teaching that was not found to be satisfactory
- 3. Suggest positive recommendations for further growth and development.

The teacher/professional must, when receiving an unsatisfactory evaluation, address the noted deficiencies when developing their annual goals.

Upon completion, prior to October 1, the teacher/professional must meet with the administrator to review their goals and develop an improvement plan.

K. EVALUATION REPORT, CONFERENCE AND COMMENTS

A written report will be made of each classroom observation or evaluation that is to form a part of the teacher's personnel record. A copy of every report shall be given to the teacher involved promptly after such observation or evaluation. After the delivery of a copy of such report to the teacher, a conference shall be held between these parties to discuss the report, unless such conference is mutually dispensed with. No report shall be submitted to central administration, placed in the teacher's personnel file or otherwise acted upon until the signature of both the evaluator and the teacher involved have been affixed to the report, indicating complete knowledge of its content and

acknowledging the opportunity for a conference. A teacher's signature on such report shall not constitute approval. A teacher shall have the right to include remarks, statements, etc. concerning said report. Such remarks may be made upon the original evaluation form and/or on attached sheets if necessary. Signature of both the teacher and evaluator will be affixed to these statements.

L. FREQUENCY AND TONE OF REPORTS

The number of observation reports shall be at the discretion of the evaluator within the following limitations:

1. Non-tenure (or probationary) teachers at least 3 observation reports on non-tenure teachers shall be filed with the central office during a school year. Such reports should be spread over the school year. Observations/Evaluations of a first year teacher during the first semester should focus on assistance. Teachers who are experiencing difficulty should receive the benefit of additional observations. It is here recommended that, in the interests of encouraging innovation and creative approaches to education, the non-tenured teacher should invite the evaluator to observe at least one lesson or unit which the teacher feels to be particularly effective or noteworthy. The evaluator shall then write his/her evaluation of the lesson and it shall be filed as a regular observation report.

If a non-tenured teacher is not recommended for reappointment, at least two observation reports shall be filed by March 1st.

M. RECOMMENDATION FOR CONTINUATION OF EMPLOYMENT

A recommendation for the continuation of employment in the case of a probationary teacher shall be filed with the Superintendent twice a year, once in the period of December 1st - December 15th, and again in the period of March 1st - March 15th. A recommendation for the termination of employment in the case of a probationary teacher shall be filed in the period from March 1st to March 15th. Such recommendations shall be based upon the professional opinion of the evaluator and upon the written reports previously filed.

The teacher shall be given a copy of the recommendation and shall be provided adequate opportunity for a conference with the evaluator prior to the filing of the recommendation. The teacher shall affix his/her signature to the recommendation acknowledging his/her opportunity to have discussed it with his/her evaluator.

N. NOTIFICATION OF TENURE, DENIAL OR TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

- Probationary teachers to be denied tenure, shall be notified by March 15th. Such teachers may request a conference with the Superintendent regarding such action and said conference will be held. The teacher may bring an Association representative with him/her to said conference. The purpose of this conference is to allow the teacher to submit pertinent materials and statements concerning the action. The teacher will also be given a written explanation <u>pursuant to the provisions of section 3031 of the Education Law</u> of the reasons his/her recommended dismissal or recommended denial of tenure.
- 2. Should any probationary teacher be terminated by the District prior to being granted tenure, said teacher shall have no recourse to the grievance or arbitration procedure (as set forth in Article 38 of this Agreement) except for the sole and absolute purpose of determining whether or not said teacher was afforded procedural due process with respect to the evaluation procedure described in this Article. In the event the matter eventually reaches the arbitration stage, the Arbitrator shall be strictly limited to determining only this issue and be precluded from considering any issues, arguments or evidence concerning any other matter related to such termination, such as substantive evaluation questions.
- 3. a. If any teacher is first notified of termination or layoff in the spring semester, subsequent to April 15th, the teacher will be entitled to three and one-half (3 ½) months additional employment as described herein or pay in lieu thereof. Example: a teacher notified of termination on May 1st, is entitled to remain in paid status until the following October 15th, or to receive pay in lieu thereof for all or any part of said period.

- b. If said notification occurs prior to April 16th, employment will be continued to the end of the semester.
- 4. If any teacher is first notified of termination or layoff, between July 1st and September 1st, the teacher shall be entitled to employment during the fall semester, during which the district shall have the option to use such teacher as a permanent substitute.
- 5. a. If any teacher is first notified of termination or layoff in the fall semester subsequent to October 15th, the teacher will be entitled to three and one-half (3-1/2) month's additional employment as described herein or pay in lieu thereof. Example: a teacher notified of termination on December 1st is entitled to remain in paid status until the following March 15th or to receive pay in lieu thereof for all or any part of said period.
 - b. If said notification occurs prior to October 16th, employment will be continued to the end of the semester.
- 6. "Pay in lieu thereof" under the terms of this section shall be at the teacher's regular rate and would include a supplement based upon the District's premium contribution for the employee's actual health insurance based upon the coverage in effect at the date of notification.

O. PERSONNEL FILE

- 1. Each teacher has the right to review, and upon request to make copies of, at the teacher's expense, any material in the personnel folder except the material received from colleges and universities marked "confidential" and which the District accepts on that basis, shall not be available for review. Should the teacher wish to copy any other material in the personnel file, such copies will be made by the District at the offices of the Board of Education as soon as it is convenient to do so in light of the normal responsibilities of the staff member who is going to make such copies at the time the request is made. The parties recognize that it is desirable to provide advance notice in order to make the requested material available to said teacher in an expeditious manner.
- 2. Any material which is to be placed in a teacher's personnel folder (file) except that which is generated by the teacher or received on a confidential basis as defined in Subsection 1 hereof, shall be called to the attention of the teacher; the teacher may receive a copy of such material at the teacher's expense, and the copy or an addendum shall make clear the District's intent to place the material in the teacher's personnel folder.
- 3. All material in a teacher's personnel folder shall be dated at the time of entry and shall be initialed by the person authorizing the entry.
- 4. Any material which disciplines or reprimands a teacher, or which in any way refers to the disciplining and reprimanding of a teacher, may be placed in the teacher's folder within thirty (30) school days following knowledge by the District of the incident which resulted in the disciplinary action or reprimand. If such material has not been placed in a teacher's file within the aforementioned thirty (30) day period, it shall thereafter be barred from inclusion therein.
- 5. Whenever material within a personnel folder (file) is needed for the purposes of preparing and/or processing a grievance or preparing and/or conducting a tenure hearing or a conference pertaining to the denial of tenure or termination of employment, the Superintendent of Schools and his/her designee shall, upon the request of the teacher or authorized representative for such material, forthwith comply with such request and provide copies of such material at District expense.
- 6. The teacher shall also have the right to attach a written statement in answer to any material already in his/her file.

7. Teacher personnel files shall not be open to public inspection except upon specific written consent by the teacher.

P. ANONYMOUS MATERIAL

No anonymous material shall be placed in a teacher's personnel file. Pertinent anonymous material upon receipt, shall be brought to the teacher's attention.

O. DISCIPLINE OF TEACHERS

No teacher shall be disciplined, reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation, or deprived of any professional advantage without just cause, nor shall any teacher be disciplined or reprimanded publicly, except as constituted by law. A teacher shall be given the opportunity to answer in his/her own defense, with a representative of the Association or legal counsel present if he/she so chooses. A representative of the Association shall have the right, with the consent of the teacher, to be present at any meetings, formal or informal, resulting from such action. Any such action, including adverse evaluation of a teacher's performance or a violation of professional ethics asserted by the Board, shall be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement.

R. SPECIAL COMMENDATION FOR TEACHERS

Administrators are hereby encouraged to place in the teachers' files information of a positive nature indicating special competencies, achievement, performances or contributions of an academic or professional nature. Any such material received from competent, responsible, outside sources shall be included in the teacher's file.

CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT TEACHER OBSERVATION REPORT

Name	School/Location
Subject/Grade Level	Time/Period
	Number of Students
Years of Service: 1 2 3 4	Tenure
Date of Post Observation Conference	
I. Summary of Classroom Observation	
II. A. Evaluation of Lesson and Recommenda	ation(s)
B. Review of Previous Recommendations	(if appropriate)
teacher shall have the right to include remarks, statemay be made upon the original observation report	ent. It does not necessarily imply agreement or mature on this report shall not constitute approval. A tements, etc. concerning said report. Such remarks and/or attached sheets if necessary.
The affixed signature or comments do not abrogate	
Supervisor's Signature	Date
Teacher's Signature	Date
Initial if there are attached documents	•

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT TEACHER PREPARATION FORM FOR FORMAL CLASSROOM OBSERVATIONS

Name of Teacher:	School/Location:
Subject/Grade/Level:	Time/level:
Date of Observation:	Number of Students:
Date Form Submitted:	
This form was completed: before the obser	vation
after the observa	ation
I. <u>Lessons to be Observed</u> (Standards Based)	

II. Procedure and Instructional Activities

III. Criteria For Assessment

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT **PROFESSIONAL GOALS**

	School					
ect/Grade Level	Years of Service	e: 1	2	3	4	Ten
t be completed by October 1 of each academic year.	*				ğ	
1. Goals - Objectives for year						
9						
	X = = =					
T .						
Date Profession	al Administrator					
2. Progress of Goals/Objectives						
2. Progress of Goals/Objectives						
2. Progress of Goals/Objectives						
2. Progress of Goals/Objectives						
Professional Administrator						
Professional Administrator	2					
	¥					

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT **EVALUATION FORM**

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT EVALUATION FORM	Check One:PsychologistGuidanceCounselorNurse			
Name:	School:			
Subject/Grade Level:	Years of Service:	. 2	3 4 Tenure	
Analysis Code: 1. Satisfactory 2. Unsatisfactor	ory (Circle one below)			
A. Professional Performance				
1. Communicates effectively with students		1	2	
2. Communicates effectively with parent/guardians, workers	outside agencies and co-	1	2	
3. Demonstrates professional skills		1	2	
4. Utilizes organizational skills	٠	1	2	
5. Manages time and resources		1	2	
6. Exercises effective practices		1	2	

BOE Form #1a

(over)

1. Is pro	mpt in performance of duties	1	2
	21		
2. Follow	ws school policies and regulations	1	2
3. Is acc	urate in reports	1	2
-			
4. Tries	to make use of suggestions	1	2
C. Narı	rative		
1. Comn	nendable points		
2. Recor	nmendations		
D. Evalu	nation is: Satisfactory Unsatisfactory		
indicates i disagreem teacher sh	of both teacher and evaluator will be affixed to this document. The state that the teacher has received this document. It does not necessarily intent with the evaluation. A teacher's signature on this report shall not hall have the right to include remarks, statements, etc. concerning said ade upon the original evaluation report and/or attached sheets if neces	nply agreemer t constitute ap _l l report. Such	nt or proval. A
The affixe	d signature or comments do not abrogate the teacher's rights as outli	ned in the con	tract.
Superviso	r's Signature Date_		
Teacher's	Signature Date_		8
Initial if th	nere are attached documents		

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT COACH'S OBSERVATION AND EVALUATION FORM

Name of Coach		Sport			
Position					
No. of Years Coaching this Sport					
-					
First Aid Completed YesNoDate_					
Coaching Certification YesNo					
Major Responsibilities	Good		Acceptable	*Needs Improveme nt	Not Observed
Squad Management					
a. Locker Room					
b. Showers					
c. Field or Court					
d. Trips					
e. Equipment					
Knowledge-Sports & Rules					
3. Planning & Preparation					
4. Techniques & Methods of Instruction					
5. Game Administration					
a. Preparation for Game					
b. Bench Conduct					*
c. Conduct with Officials					
6. Coach-Player Relationship					
7. Coach-Staff Relationship					
8. Coach-Parent Relationship					
9. Public Relations					
Comments: Include such areas as Professional *Suggest positive recommendations for future	Advance growth ar	ment, id dev	Recommenda relopment.	tions, Concern	S
Signature of both coach and evaluator will be a indicates that the coach has reviewed this docu disagreement with the observation. A coach's coach shall have the right to include remarks, she made upon the original observation report a	ment. It of signature statements and/or atta	does n on thi s, etc., ched s	tot necessarily is report shall concerning sa sheets if neces	imply agreement constitute a sid report. Such sary.	ent or pproval. A n remarks may
The affixed signature or comments do not abro					
Signature of Coach			Da	ite	
Signature of Observer			Da	ite	

Initial if there are attached documents

ARTICLE 33 CLASS SIZE

- A. The Board of Education and the Association recognize the principle that a class size of 30 or less is desirable. The Administration will maintain classes of 30 or less unless physical facilities make this impossible.
- B. If the number of students in any class shall exceed 30, then the principal will explain to the teachers involved the reasons therefore. If the reasons given in the opinion of the teacher appear invalid or if alternate solutions have not been pursued, then it is the right of the teacher to report the situation to his/her school liaison for further consideration.
- C. As a further step, the liaison may report the unresolved situation to the Superintendent and the President of the ASSOCIATION
- D. To insure the continuation of acceptable standards within budget limitations, any reduction of teacher-specialist pupil ratio shall be effected only after consideration by the Superintendent and the President of the ASSOCIATION
- E. The Superintendent or his/her designee will present a description of the complete school district enrollment to the President of the ASSOCIATION
- F. All teachers to whom severe learning disabled students or students with handicapping conditions who are being mainstreamed out of self-contained special education classrooms are assigned will be notified of said students' handicapping conditions as soon as practicable.
- G. In the Elementary Schools, prior to grade level transitions (moving from one grade to another), the grade level teachers involved, both the current teachers and the teachers in the subsequent grade level, shall meet and confer to evenly distribute the students in each classroom, based on the best educational interests of the students. These class rosters shall then be forwarded to the Building Principal for final approval.

ARTICLE 34 <u>LEAVES</u>

A. SICK LEAVE

Sick leave is defined as absence with pay necessitated by illness or other physical disability of the employee and/or emergency or personal leave as described in this article.

- 1. At the beginning of each year, each professional employee shall be credited with fifteen (15) days of sick leave which may be used during the year.
- 2. At the end of each school year, the number of unused days of sick leave for that year shall be credited to the employee's accumulative sick leave.
- 3. Professional staff members who have exhausted their sick leave may apply to the Superintendent of Schools for additional sick leave. The Superintendent, at his/her discretion, shall be authorized to treat highly exceptional cases as such and to recommend to the Board, in these cases, such additional sick leave as in his/her opinion may seem wise and equitable.
- 4. a. There shall be a Sick Leave Bank for the purpose of making available, under the terms and conditions set forth in this Section, additional sick leave to employees who have exhausted current and accumulated sick leave, are unable to return to work because of a prolonged serious illness or injury, and have no other source of income such as income protection and/or accident and health insurance which would provide an income equal to the teacher's salary.

b. Any teacher who has completed at least one year of service with the District (said year of service to commence with the date of the first day of actual work in the District) shall be eligible to contribute two (2) days of accumulated sick leave to the Bank. Said contribution shall be made by written notification to the Sick Leave Bank Committee by no later than November 1, or within 60 days after the first anniversary date of the teacher's first day of service to the District.

Teachers who do not so contribute to the funding of the Sick Leave Bank shall not be eligible to participate in the benefits of said Bank. Membership in the Sick Leave Bank will begin on the date of receipt of the application by the office of the Superintendent of Schools and/or his designee.

- c. Contributions to the Bank by teachers may be made only once during any Bank year. Should the total number of available days fall below ninety (90) in any Bank year (10/1 9/30), the Bank may be replenished by additional contributions by eligible employees of one day per employee, said contributions to be made by written notification of the Committee no later than thirty (30) days after the bank falls below ninety (90) days. In no event can any employee contribute more than one additional day per year in any Bank year except the initial Bank year during which the maximum contribution shall be two.
- d. The Sick Leave Bank shall be administered by a Committee consisting of two (2) members appointed by the Association and one (1) member appointed by the Superintendent who shall be mutually acceptable to both parties. The Committee shall maintain a current inventory of available sick bank days and make determinations regarding all applications to use said available days. Any sick leave days which are granted by the Committee shall not exceed sixty (60) days per school year. In the event that additional sick leave days need to be granted, an eligible employee may, at the sole discretion of the Committee, draw up to an additional thirty (30) days per employee per school year. Should an employee draw an additional thirty (30), the employee shall repay said days to the sick leave bank by having five (5) days per year deducted from their initial sick day allotment each September, until thirty (30) days are back to the bank Should the Committee become deadlocked or otherwise unable to reach a decision regarding the nature or seriousness of a particular illness or injury or the number of days to be granted, then the members shall appoint a qualified and competent licensed physician (who may be a specialist with regard to the illness or injury in question) to assist them in their determination and, if necessary, cast the deciding vote. In no event, however, shall any decision of the Committee be considered to be a proper subject to be processed under Article 38, Grievance, of the Agreement and the decisions of the Committee shall be specifically excluded from the provisions of that Article.
- e. For the purposes of this Article, the term "serious illness or injury" shall be defined as one which is generally regarded as such by the medical profession. Applications for use of additional sick leave days shall be accompanied by written confirmation/verification from the applicant's attending physician and the anticipated date of recovery and return to work. The Committee shall have the right to request additional medical information, if it deems such information to be necessary, as well as the right to have the teacher examined by the district physician. Any dispute as to whether or not an illness or injury is "serious" or "prolonged" as those terms are used herein, shall be resolved by the licensed physician who may be appointed as hereinbefore provided in subsection (d). The purpose of the Sick Leave Bank is to provide additional sick leave in extraordinary situations where a seriously ill, injured or disabled teacher has no other significant means of income and cannot return to work for a prolonged period of time (after accumulated sick leave has been exhausted) which will create a bona fide economic hardship upon the teacher.

It is not intended to cover absences of a single day, or several days, where there is no serious or prolonged illness or injury or where no bona fide economic hardship exists.

B. EMERGENCY LEAVE

Emergency leave shall be given for absences occasioned by birth in the family, sickness in the immediate family, attendance at the funeral of a close relative or associate, or other valid emergencies as approved by the Superintendent or his/her designee.

- 1. Birth in the family refers to situations where a husband must be in attendance at home or the hospital due to the birth of a child in his household. Mothers or fathers shall be considered part of the immediate family when a husband cannot be present. In cases other than specified above, permission must be given by the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- 2. Sickness in the family refers to absence from work when either spouse must be in attendance at home or in the hospital to care for a member of the immediate family unit. In cases where sickness occurs other than in the immediate family unit, approval for absence must be given by the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- 3. Death in the family refers to attendance at a funeral or any member of the family or attendance at the funeral of a close associate.

C. PERSONAL LEAVE

1. At the beginning of each year each professional staff member shall be granted three (3) days personal leave. For a variety of reasons the parties agree that the use of personal leave on the days before and after the four major school holidays (Thanksgiving, Christmas, February-mid winter break and April-spring break) should be discouraged as a matter of professional responsibility. However, they also recognize that unusual circumstances may sometimes arise which necessitate a very limited use of it.

Notwithstanding this, any undue hardship caused by the strict interpretation of this provision can be appealed to a committee of three – two teachers and an administrator jointly appointed by the Superintendent of Schools and the president of the Association, who shall have authority to exceed even the parameters of this provision, whose decision is final and not subject to the grievance process or other appeals.

No more than one personal day in any year may be used on the days immediately before or after the four major school vacation periods outlined above.

- 2. Professional staff members should give as much advance notice to the appropriate administrator as possible when requesting personal leave. Emergencies may preclude such advance notice.
- 3. Unused personal leave days shall be credited to the employee's sick leave account at the end of each school year so that the total possible sick leave for each school year is eighteen (18) days.
- 4. Reasons for personal leave need not be given.

D. LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- 1. Any professional member desiring a leave of absence other than pregnancy shall notify the Superintendent of Schools in writing at least four (4) months before the close of a semester except as emergencies may require shorter notification.
- 2. A request for leave of absence shall be for a period of not more than one school year except as provided elsewhere in this section or at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 3. Professional staff members on leave of absence (including those on parental or child care leave) shall submit, in writing, requests for extension or modification of leave or their intent to return or

not. Such written requests or notifications shall be submitted during the prior semester of the termination of the leave, either by March 1st or November 1st whichever applies.

- 4. Such leave shall be granted without pay.
- 5. A professional staff member may continue his/her hospitalization.
- 6. A professional staff member will have his/her retirement benefits continued during his/her leave of absence.
- 7. When a member of the bargaining unit is laid off or goes on leave of absence, the District shall advise the employee as to the procedure to be followed with regard to continuation, or future reinstatement, of health insurance coverage. Should the employee discontinue coverage during the leave of absence, applications for reinstatement and other necessary information will be available from the Health Insurance Office.
- 8. At the discretion of the Superintendent and subject to Board of Education approval, unpaid leaves of absence of limited duration may be granted for the purpose of other employment on a trial basis including self-employment. Serving as a full-time elected official may also be an allowed leave for purposes of this section. However, employees subject to disciplinary proceedings shall not be eligible for such leaves of absence as noted in this section.

E. PARENTAL AND CHILD CARE LEAVE

- 1. A teacher who becomes pregnant shall notify the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee of her pregnancy as soon as possible but not later than the beginning of the fourth month. Said notification shall include probable due date and, if known, whether she intends to take maternity leave of absence and, if so, the expected duration. Any information submitted pursuant to this Article shall be subject to the confidentiality guidelines under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).
- 2. A teacher who becomes pregnant shall be entitled to a maternity leave of absence of up to two (2) years, without pay or increment, up to one year at a time. Application for said leave shall be accompanied by a statement from the teacher's physician confirming pregnancy. The leave may be for a period of less than one or two years' duration, at the teacher's discretion, so as to conform to the individual circumstances of each case but it is the intention of the parties that maternity leaves be taken in such a manner so as to minimize instructional disruption and maximize classroom continuity. Toward this end, it is recognized that in many instances it is desirable that the leave be completed at the end of a semester. Accordingly, the teacher shall consult with the Assistant Superintendent in deciding upon a return date which satisfactorily meets the objectives of this provision.
- 3. A pregnant teacher may continue her employment until such time as she is unable to do so without endangering or impairing her physical condition as evidenced by a written statement from the teacher's personal physician. If the teacher continues to work until such time as her physician indicates she should no longer do so, she shall be entitled to use any accumulated sick leave for the period during which she is physically/medically unable to continue her teacher duties because of her pregnancy up to a period of seven weeks. Should this period exceed seven weeks, the District shall have the right to consult with the teacher's physician and should any dispute arise regarding the disability period, the District shall have the right to have the teacher examined by its own physician. If the teacher commences her maternity leave while she is still able to continue working, and prior to the aforementioned date established by her physician, her leave shall be considered in the same manner as any other leaves of absence, and she shall not be eligible for any unused accumulated sick leave benefits. In the event that a teacher does continue to work until physically unable to do so, as set forth above, she shall be eligible for said accumulated sick leave benefits only for the period of actual disability.

- 4. Any teacher, parent of a minor child, shall be granted, upon written application, a child care leave of up to two (2) years which shall be without pay or increment and for a period of one (1) year at a time. Any such leave which is for less than a full year must terminate at the completion of the semester in which such leave is commenced, or at the end of the following semester.
- 5. In the event that both father and mother are employed by the District, there shall not be a duplication of child care and/or maternity leave, and only one individual shall be granted leave at any one time. If the mother is not an employee of the District, and remains at home to care for the infant, Child Care Leave shall not be granted to the father employed by the District unless the mother is his legal spouse and he can prove to the satisfaction of the District that there are exceptional and medically compelling circumstances which require him to remain at home.
- 6. A teacher who adopts an infant will be eligible for a leave of absence of up to two (2) years subject to the conditions of the Maternity and Child Care provisions of this section. Application for such leave should be made as early as possible prior to the scheduled adoption. In the event both parents are employed by the District, Adoption Leave shall not be granted to both.

F. PEACE CORPS, VISTA, EXCHANGE TEACHER

Leave of absence without pay of up to two (2) years may be granted to any teacher who joins the Peace Corps, Vista or who serves as an exchange teacher. Such a teacher shall be entitled to return to a position comparable to the one he/she held prior to going on leave at the same status.

G. MILITARY LEAVE

Teachers who are drafted, recalled or placed on active duty in the armed forces of the United States shall be guaranteed their former teaching position or equivalent upon discharge from active duty, in accordance with subsection 243 of the New York State Military Leave.

H. TERMINAL LEAVE

- 1. Any bargaining unit member, age 55 or older, who retires or resigns from the District in good standing and has served at least ten (10) years in the Rome City School District will be granted terminal pay added to his/her final year's salary so long as conditions under 34.H.3 are met.
- A professional employee qualifying under (1) shall be paid an amount equal to one four-hundredth (1/400th) of his or her final year's salary times one-third (1/3) of his or her accumulated unused sick days.
- 3. Each employee qualifying under (1) will, submit to the RCSD Office of Human Resources an irrevocable letter of intent to retire or resign by the date specified below depending on his or her effective retirement date as outlined below:
 - a. Anyone retiring or resigning at the end of the current school year must submit his or her irrevocable letter of intent to retire by March 1 of the current school year.
 - b. Anyone retiring or resigning between the end of the current school vear through September 1 of that year must also submit his or her irrevocable letter of intent to retire by March I of the current school year.
 - c. Anyone retiring or resigning after September 1, but prior to the end of that current school year must submit his or her irrevocable letter of intent to retire at least four months prior to his or her effective retirement date.
 - d. Examples:
 - 1. Effective Retirement Date is the end of current school year, you would fall under letter "a" and must submit your letter no later than March 1.
 - 2. Effective retirement date of notification July 15, you would fall under letter "b" above and would have to submit your letter prior to March 1.
 - 3. Effect Retirement Date is November 10, you would fall under letter "c" and you must submit your letter no later than July I0.

- 4. Effective retirement date is February 15, you would fall under letter "c" and you must submit your letter no later than October 15.
- e. Where unusual circumstances exist, the above notification of requirements for terminal leave may be waived at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 4. In case of death, monies owed to the individual under this provision will be paid to the same beneficiary as stipulated on the New York State Retirement Plan, unless otherwise stipulated by the individual.
- 5. In the event that the District offers a local retirement incentive, notwithstanding the notification requirements listed above, eligible bargaining unit members shall provide an irrevocable letter of intent to retire from District service on or before close of business on a date specified in the incentive language. If there is no local retirement incentive, then the aforementioned notification requirements shall be followed.

I. JURY DUTY

Jury duty leave will not be charged but compensation for jury service is to be returned to the District, exclusive of expenses.

ARTICLE 35 SABBATICAL LEAVE

- A. To be eligible for a sabbatical leave, an applicant must be a member of the professional staff with seven (7) years of service in the Rome Public Schools and hold a permanent certification in the field in which he/she is working at the time of application.
- B. Sabbatical must be of professional value to the applicant and to the Rome Public Schools. Candidates must submit a statement in support of this and outline in detail the objectives and the program to achieve it which may be either advanced study travel, research or other activity.
 - Criteria for the awarding of sabbaticals shall be established each year by the Superintendent in consultation with the president of the Association. At least one sabbatical will be awarded without necessarily fitting the criteria described above unless so agreed to by the Superintendent and Association president.
- C. 1. Applicants will be expected to return to the Rome Public Schools for a period of no less than two (2) full employment years following a sabbatical. Anyone granted a sabbatical leave shall sign an agreement to be filed with the District Clerk, that in the event of his or her failure to complete the two (2) years of service following the leave, he or she will repay to the District an amount equal to the sabbatical pay for the portion of the two (2) year service requirement which is not completed.
 - 2. The District may waive these service and repayment obligations if an individual can show that circumstances beyond his or her control prevent compliance with the two (2) year service requirement.
 - 3. Any person who takes a sabbatical leave will not be eligible for a second sabbatical until the end of another seven (7) year period of service.
- D. Applications will be reviewed and selection of recipients made by a committee as follows:
 - 1. The President of the Board of Education.
 - 2. Superintendent of Schools or Assistant Superintendent of Schools.

- 3. Chairman of the Committee on Instruction and Services or member of the committee designated by the chairman.
- 4. President of the Rome Teachers Association.
- 5. A principal appointed by the Superintendent of Schools from a list of three (3) principals selected by the Rome Teachers Association.
- 6. Two (2) teachers appointed by the Superintendent of Schools from a list of seven (7) teachers selected by the Rome Teachers Association.
- E. The selection committee shall be authorized to consult with administrative and supervisory personnel and others who might be able to contribute information relative to an applicant's qualifications.
- F. The decision of the selection committee shall be subject to the approval of the Board of Education in its function of granting leaves of absence.
- G. If selected applicants are unable to accept sabbaticals, replacements, if made, shall be chosen from those applicants already on file.
- H. All applications for leave shall be filed by March 1st and selection made by May 1st for an ensuing school year. Applications may be made for a leave of one (1) semester at full pay or one (1) year at half pay.
- I. Application forms shall be made available from the Association, a teacher's immediate supervisor and/or the office of the Assistant Superintendent.
- J. During sabbatical leaves, professional staff members shall have the option of continuing their health insurance.
- K. During sabbatical leaves, professional staff members shall have their retirement benefits continued.
- L. Sabbatical leaves shall be limited to no more than three (3) per year. In years of a contingent budget or reduction-in-force due to fiscal constraints, sabbaticals shall be limited to a number established by mutual agreement between the Superintendent of Schools and the President of the Association.

ARTICLE 36 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND EDUCATIONAL IMPROVEMENT

- A. Any member of the Unit shall have the opportunity to grow professionally by requesting time to attend workshops, seminars, conferences, professional meetings and visiting other schools.
- B. Persons wishing to attend such meetings shall submit a conference request form for the Superintendent's consideration.
- C. Any teacher who has been authorized to attend such a session shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of salary, with the School District providing a substitute.
- D. The District shall reimburse all reasonable expenses incurred by teachers who attend such sessions on the advance approval of the Superintendent (meals, lodging, transportation and registration fees). Teachers may attend at their own expense with the Superintendent's approval.
- E. Time may be allowed as per prior practice without loss of pay for duly elected or appointed Association representatives to attend NYSUT, New York Retirement System, and American Federation of Teachers and A.F.L.-C.I.O. conferences and conventions.

- F. Attendance at above-mentioned meetings, where permission has been granted, shall be subject to regular attendance procedures. Non-attendance must be cleared with the Superintendent.
- G. When changes are made in allocations for purchasing requisitioned equipment or supplies affecting individual departments and/or classroom teachers, said individual departments and/or teachers shall have the opportunity to indicate in writing, their recommended priorities as to what should or should not be purchased with available funds.

ARTICLE 37 GRIEVANCE

The Rome City School District and the Rome Teachers Association in compliance with Article 16 of the General Municipal Law (Chapter 554 of the Laws of 1962) regarding the establishment of grievance procedures for public employees, do hereby establish and adopt the following procedures for the orderly settlement of grievances of members of the staff of the Rome City School District to be effective immediately. The purpose of this procedure is to promote a more harmonious and cooperative relationship between teachers, administrators, and members of the Board of Education. Such a procedure shall provide for prompt and equitable solutions to grievances at the lowest possible administrative level.

A. DEFINITIONS

- 1. <u>Grievance</u> shall mean any claimed violation, misinterpretation, or inequitable application of policy affecting the welfare of the teacher and/or the terms and conditions of employment as described in this Agreement.
- 2. <u>Aggrieved Party</u> shall mean any person or group of persons in the negotiating unit filing a grievance.
- 3. Party in Interest shall mean the Grievance Committee of the Rome Teachers Association and any party named in a grievance who is not the aggrieved party.
- 4. <u>Association Grievance Committee</u> is the committee created and constituted by the Rome Teachers Association. It shall consist of five members, one who shall be appointed by the Association President for the representation of the aggrieved, the Association and its members in the enforcement of this Agreement, and the assertion of their rights.
- 5. <u>Administrator</u> shall mean any director, principal, assistant principal, immediate superior or other administrator responsible for the area in which an alleged grievance arises, except for the Chief Executive Officer.
- 6. Chief Executive Officer is the Superintendent of Schools.

B. PROCEDURE

- 1. All grievances shall include the name and position of the aggrieved party, the identity of the provisions of law, this Agreement, policies, etc., involved in said grievance, the time when and the place where the alleged events or conditions constituting the grievance existed, the identity of the party responsible for causing the said events or conditions, if known to the aggrieved party, and a general statement of the nature of the grievances and the remedies sought by the aggrieved party.
- 2. All decisions shall be rendered in writing, except at Level 1A at the end of each step of the grievance procedure.
- 3. Grievances affecting a group of teachers may be submitted by the Association directly at Level 2.

- 4. All documents, communications and records dealing with the grievances shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants.
- 5. Forms for filing grievances, service notices, taking appeals and making reports and recommendations, and other necessary documents will be jointly developed by the Board and the Association.
- 6. An employee shall have the right to present grievances in accordance with these procedures, free from coercion, interferences, restraint, discrimination or reprisal.
- 7. An employee shall have the right to be represented at any stage of the procedure by the Association Grievance Committee.
- 8. Each party to a grievance shall have access at reasonable times to all written statements and records pertaining to the case.
- 9. Any party in interest may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by a person(s) of his/her own choosing.

10. Time Limits:

- a. Since it is important to good relationships that grievances be processed as rapidly as possible, every effort will be made by all parties to expedite the process. The time limits specified for either party may be extended only by mutual agreement.
- b. Failure at any stage of the grievance procedure to give a decision to the aggrieved party or his/her representative within the specified time limit shall permit a lodging of an appeal at the next stage of the procedure within the time which would have been allotted had the decision been communicated by the final day.
- c. The term "school days" as used in this Article shall be interpreted as week days (Monday through Friday) during the summer, so that grievances may proceed to resolution without interruption during the summer months.
- d. All parties agree that a grievance proceeding shall be confidential.

C. LEVELS

1. Level One:

- a. An aggrieved person shall first present his/her grievance (in writing or orally as he/she may choose) to the immediate supervisor with the objective of resolving the matter informally.
 During the informal discussion of the grievance with the supervisor, the aggrieved party
 - 1. May discuss the grievance personally and privately
 - 2. May be accompanied, upon request, by the Association's representative; or
 - 3. May request that the Association representative act in his/her behalf. The teacher's absence must be agreed upon by all parties.
- b. If the grievance is not resolved it must be reduced to writing and presented to the appropriate supervisor within forty (40) school days after the alleged grievance has occurred or the grievant has knowledge of facts alleged to constitute a grievance. Within five (5) school days after the written grievance is presented to him/her, the supervisor shall render a decision in writing and present it to the teacher or his/her representative, with a copy to the Association.

Level Two:

- a. The Association Grievance Committee, whether or not it concurs in the finding of Level One, shall upon the request of the aggrieved party file a written appeal with the Chief Executive Officer within ten (10) school days following receipt of such decision.
- b. The Chief Executive Officer shall make whatever investigation he/she deems appropriate, and shall after consultation with the Board of Education, within fifteen (15) school days after receiving the written appeal of the Association Grievance Committee, render a decision in writing to all parties.

3. Level Three:

- a. Within ten (10) school days after such decision by the Superintendent, and the Board of Education, the aggrieved party may request in writing that the Grievance Committee submit the grievance to arbitration. The Grievance Committee will make its determination within sixty (60) days of receipt of the written request by the aggrieved party and will give written notification of its intent to proceed to arbitration to the Assistant Superintendent by submission to him/her of a copy of the demand for arbitration as submitted to the American Arbitration Association. Such demand will be submitted within ten (10) days of the determination by the Grievance Committee.
- b. The parties will then be bound by the rules and procedures of the American Arbitration Association. The cost of arbitration shall be borne equally by the parties. In appropriate cases, the parties may mutually agree to submit the grievance to expedited arbitration pursuant to the rules of the American Arbitration Association.
- c. The arbitrator so selected shall confer with representatives of the Board and the Grievance Committee and hold hearings promptly and will issue his/her decision no later than twenty (20) school days from the date of the close of the hearings. The arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and will be final and binding on the parties.

ARTICLE 38 MISCELLANEOUS

A. REPRISALS PROHIBITED

There will be no reprisals of any kind taken against any teacher by reason of his/her membership in the Association or participating in any of its activities.

B. TIME FOR NEGOTIATIONS AND GRIEVANCE PROCESSING

If meetings between the Board and the Association are scheduled during a school day, the representatives of the Association will be relieved from all regular duties necessary to permit their participation in such meetings, with no loss in leave or pay. When it is necessary pursuant to the Grievance Procedure, for a building representative, member of the Grievance Committee or their representatives designated by the Association to investigate a grievance or attend a grievance meeting or hearing to said person's immediate superior or the Superintendent upon notice of such fact by the chairman of the Grievance Committee, said person shall be released without loss of pay as necessary in order to permit participation in the foregoing activities. Any teacher whose appearance in such investigations, meetings or hearings as a witness is necessary will be accorded the same right. Both parties agree to make themselves available for the above investigations and hearings at times when, insofar as possible, there will be no interference with the usual duties of the teacher.

C. COPIES OF AGREEMENT

Copies of this Agreement will be printed at Board expense and a copy given to each teacher.

D. SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any provision of the Agreement or any application of the Agreement to any employee or group of employees shall be found contrary to law, then such provision or application shall not be deemed valid and subsisting, except to the extent permitted by law; but all other provisions or applications will continue.

E. AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES SUPERINTENDENT POLICY

This Agreement constitutes Superintendent's policy for the term of said Agreement. The Superintendent will carry out the commitments contained herein and give them full force and effect as Board policy. The Board will amend its policies and take such other action as may be necessary in order to give full force and effect to the provisions of the Agreement.

F. ROME TEACHERS ASSOCIATION COMMITTEES

It is agreed that the Rome Teachers Association has and retains full power and control over all of its committees which it is hereby required to establish and that the Rome Teachers Association retains the unilateral right to define the duties and powers of such committees and to designate the members thereof unless otherwise specified in this Agreement.

G. PROFESSIONAL COURTESY

Although the Superintendent and the Association recognize and appreciate that non-professionals perform a valuable service to the school system, non-professional employees shall not direct teachers concerning professional matters. Non-professional employees shall not make decisions regarding curriculum and facilities or impinge upon the duties of the professional staff.

- H. No matter covered by this Agreement shall be construed to apply to any person or persons outside the negotiating unit, except as required by law or stipulated in this Agreement.
- I. 204-a. <u>AGREEMENTS BETWEEN PUBLIC EMPLOYERS AND EMPLOYEE ORGANIZA-</u> TIONS
 - 1. ANY WRITTEN AGREEMENT BETWEEN A PUBLIC EMPLOYER AND AN EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION DETERMINING THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES SHALL CONTAIN THE FOLLOWING NOTICE IN TYPE NOT SMALLER THAN THE LARGEST TYPE USED ELSEWHERE IN SUCH AGREEMENT. "IT IS AGREED BY AND BETWEEN THE PARTIES THAT ANY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT REQUIRING LEGISLATIVE ACTION TO PERMIT ITS IMPLEMENTATION BY AMENDMENT OF LAW OR BY PROVIDING THE ADDITIONAL FUNDS THEREFORE, SHALL NOT BECOME EFFECTIVE UNTIL THE APPROPRIATE LEGISLATIVE BODY HAS GIVEN APPROVAL.
 - 2. EVERY EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION SUBMITTING A WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO ITS MEMBERS FOR RATIFICATION SHALL PUBLISH SUCH NOTICE, INCLUDING SUCH NOTICE IN THE DOCUMENTS ACCOMPANYING SUCH SUBMISSION AND SHALL READ IT ALOUD AT ANY MEMBERSHIP MEETING CALLED TO CONSIDER SUCH RATIFICATION.
 - 3. WITHIN SIXTY DAYS AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ACT, A COPY OF THIS SECTION SHALL BE FURNISHED BY THE CHIEF FISCAL OFFICER OR EACH PUBLIC EMPLOYER TO EACH PUBLIC EMPLOYEE. EACH PUBLIC EMPLOYEE EMPLOYED THEREAFTER SHALL, UPON SUCH EMPLOYMENT, BE FURNISHED WITH A COPY OF THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION.
- J. <u>TITLE IX OF THE EDUCATION AMENDMENTS OF 1972 DECLARES, IN PART, THAT</u>
 The Rome City School District will adhere to the Title IX regulations set forth by the Department of Education and Department of Health and Human Resources. Neither the Rome City School District

nor the Rome Teachers Association discriminates on the basis of sex in their educational activities and employment practices.

K. The Rome Teachers Association and all members of the bargaining unit recognize and agree that there should be no pyramiding of benefits or stipends, either intentionally or unintentionally by any unit member. Any such benefit or stipend so obtained may be subject to recovery by the district upon discovery of such fact. Examples of this would include but not be limited to, filing claim for payment when services are not rendered. Another example would be teaching an in-service course for payment and then receiving graduate hour payment for the same course.

ARTICLE 39 DEFINITIONS

<u>ADMINISTRATION</u> The Superintendent of Schools and his/her central office administration and all other professional employees who are excluded from the negotiating unit represented by the Association.

<u>TEACHER</u> All other employees of the Rome City School District in the employer-employee negotiating unit represented by the Association as hereinafter provided.

ASSOCIATION The Rome Teachers Association

BOARD The Board of Education of the Rome City School District. Sometimes also referred to as the School Board.

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT The schools and all the related services and facilities operated by the Rome City School District of Rome, New York.

<u>BUILDING REPRESENTATIVE</u> The duly designated representative(s) of the Rome Teachers Association.

NEGOTIATING UNIT The group of employees of the Rome City School District represented by the Association and consisting of all professional certificated employees and all non-certificated employees filling positions for which certification by the New York State Education Department is normally required; except the Administration as defined above.

ACCREDITATION SERVICES The parties agree that the source book known as the Accreditation Institute of Post-Secondary Education Programs, Candidates; published for the Commission on Recognition for Post-Secondary Accreditation, by The American Council of Education shall be utilized for determining that a degree granting institution is accredited for purposes of Article 40, A.3.

NON CONTACT COURSES This term applies to graduate or other classes where the material is presented by/from video, audio tapes or other correspondence and work/study is done independently rather than being in a classroom at/for a prescribed time.

<u>DISTANCE LEARNING COURSES</u> This term applies to graduate or other classes whereby instructor(s) and student(s) are geographically distant but where formal class time is scheduled and utilized allowing for live interaction between instructor(s) and student(s) via electronic means such as interactive satellite, video transmission, and/or interactive computer access. Approved distance learning courses shall be considered as contact courses.

ACCREDITATION RECONCILIATION COMMITTEE If questions arise as to accreditations that do not appear in the publication Accreditation Institute of Post-Secondary Education Programs, Candidates, upon request by the affected teacher, the President of the Association and the Superintendent of the Rome City School District will mutually agree on a third party to be included with one Association and one District representative, to comprise a committee which will review the facts, evaluate and determine the questioned accreditation. Such determination shall be on a case by case basis only and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

SALARY

- A. The basic salary schedules (schedule 1 and schedule 2) attached hereto shall also include the following:
 - 1. All members of the professional staff who have received a masters degree shall receive an additional \$550. An additional \$550 will be paid for earned Doctorates.
 - 2. On completion of 6 hour blocks of approved study, teachers who have less than 90 hours of approved credits will receive \$80.00 per credit hour except at 30, 60, and 90 hours at which time the teacher will be placed on the appropriate column on the schedule. Teachers who have already reached 90 hours and have been placed on the 90 hour column of the salary schedule will receive \$65 per credit hour on completion of 6 hour blocks of approved study. Teachers who complete more than 60 hours beyond the 90 hour block level will receive \$50.00 per credit hour for all hours beyond this.

Credit Hour Salary Adjustments						
Schedule 1 Only						
	Currently must be sub-	mitted in six hour blocks				
All credits less than	Columns at BS+30 at	All credits between	All Credits beyond			
BS+90 column	BS+60 and BS+90	BS+90 and BS+150	BS+150			
\$80 per credit hour	Appropriate Salary	\$65 per credit hour	\$50 per credit hour			
	Column	T	_			

The teacher will notify the Superintendent or his/her designee of the proposed course(s) prior to the commencement of classes in the course(s). Salary credit will be approved for those courses which are required for certification and/or are part of an accredited degree program at an accredited institution of higher learning. In order to receive salary credit for any other graduate course(s), the course(s) in question must be given by an accredited college or university. Accreditation is defined under Article 39, Accreditation services. Salary schedule 2 there will be no compensation for credit hours earned between BS-BS30, BS30-BS60, BS60-BS90 and above.

Approved courses shall continue to fulfill two of the following conditions:

- a. be in the field of education
- b. relate to the performance of the teacher's duties
- c. be in the general area of the teacher's assignment

Any course which does not meet the requirements of this section (2 a, b, c) must be approved in advance by the Superintendent in order to qualify for salary credit.

3. Longevity Steps:

Must have served as a teacher in the Rome City School District fifteen (15) years of cumulative service or more. This benefit is non-cumulative and it is not added to base.

Step 24	\$1,000
Step 25	\$1,000
Step 26	\$2,000
Step 27	\$2,200
Step 28	\$2,200
Step 29	\$2,200
Step 30	\$2,200
Sten 31	\$2.500

- 4. The teacher must provide official transcripts and must file on the form provided. Salary adjustments will be effective twice each year for those credits filed prior to October 1 or February 1.
- All hours of graduate study submitted for salary credit will be placed in 30 hour blocks with payment contingent upon completion of six hour blocks. Approved graduate course hours shall be subject to no numerical limit.

Any combination of non-contact*/in-service hours within a 30 hour block may not exceed 12 credit hours. In-service credit shall be limited to nine (9) hours in each 30 hours of graduate study credit used for the teachers' salary purposes. Teachers who already have received credit above the newly agreed upon ratio in a 30 hour block will not be subject retroactively to these standards.

*Non-contact hours are defined in Article 39

No more than 12 hours per semester (24 hours per year) of approved graduate/non-contact courses of study may be submitted for salary credit. Additionally, in-service credit up to six (6) hours per year can be used for salary purposes. Teachers matriculated in an approved graduate degree or certification program shall not be subject to the 12 hour per semester graduate course limit for salary credit, provided the courses are taken as part of the program of study in which they are matriculated.

- 6. If, at the termination of this Agreement, no successor agreement has been reached, and the New York State "Triborough" amendment is still in effect, teachers will, where applicable, move up one step on the schedule and increments will be paid.
- 7. No teacher presently employed by the District shall suffer any reduction in pay as a result of the implementation of this article.
- 8. Upon completion of the probationary period and being awarded tenure, teachers will receive a one-time tenure award of \$500. Such payment will be made by the district within thirty days of the effective date of the board action and will be in the form of a separate check.
- 9.—Any teacher who attains National Board Teacher Certification (NBTC) shall receive a one-time stipend of one thousand dollars (\$1,000)

B. SALARY DISBURSEMENTS

The administration shall offer the following pay options:

- 1. 21 or 22 pay periods distributed over a twelve month period.
- 2. 26 or 27 pay periods distributed over a twelve month period.
- 3. 26 or 27 pay periods with 21 or 22 checks issued during the school year and a lump sum equivalent to five pay periods to be issued at the end of the school year.
- C. \$600 \$1,600 above salary as teacher:
 - 1. Guidance Counselor (If hired before July 1, 1998):
 The differential for guidance counselors shall be applied in the same manner as the coaching differential. Teachers presently above this will be "saved harmless". First year counselors will receive a minimum of one-third of the differential.
 - 2. Coordinator of Student Activities, R.F.A., if a teacher.
- D. \$700 \$1,800 above salary as teacher:
 - 1. Coordinator of Elementary Education

- 2. Chairman of Secondary Department
- E. \$2,500 above salary as a teacher:
 - 1. Teacher Coordinator
- F. \$1,500 \$2,800 above salary as teacher:
 - 1. School Psychologist (If hired before July 1, 1998):

Teachers presently receiving a differential will continue to receive that differential.

G. 1. Registered Nurses shall be hourly employees with a seven (7) hour day for each full school day with part day sessions prorated. <u>Registered Nurses who possess a masters degree shall receive an additional \$550</u>, paid in the same manner as the teaching staff.

					Nurses				
2016-2017		201	2017-2018		8-2019	2019	-2020	2020	-2021
Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly
1	\$18.77	1	\$19.65	1	\$20.59	1	\$21.55	1	\$22.57
2	\$19.85	2	\$20.73	2	\$21.66	2	\$22.63	2	\$23.65
3	\$20.87	3	\$21.75	3	\$22.68	3	\$23.65	3	\$24.67
4	\$21.42	4	\$22.30	4	\$23.23	4	\$24.20	4	\$25.22
5	\$22.08	5	\$22.96	5	\$23.89	5	\$24.86	5	\$25.88
6	\$22.62	6	\$23.50	6	\$24.43	6	\$25.40	6	\$26.42
7	\$23.34	7	\$24.22	7	\$25.15	7	\$26.12	7	\$27.14
8	\$24.78	8	\$25.66	8	\$26.59	8	\$27.56	8	\$28.58
9	\$25.22	9	\$26.10	9	\$27.03	9	\$28.00	9	\$29.02
10	\$25.44	10	\$26.32	10	\$27.25	10	\$28.22	10	\$29.24
11	\$27.40	11	28.26	11	29.15	11	30.09	11	31.08
12	\$28.15	12	\$29.03	12	\$29.96	12	\$30.93	12	\$31.95
13	\$28.85	13	\$29.73	13	\$30.66	13	\$31.63	13	\$32.65
14	\$29.77	14	\$30.65	14	\$31.58	14	\$32.55	14	\$33.57
15	\$30.36	15	\$31.24	15	\$32.17	15	\$33.14	15	\$34.16
16	\$30.77	16	\$31.65	16	\$32.58	16	\$33.55	16	\$34.57
17	\$31.52	17	\$32.40	17	\$33.33	17	\$34.30	17	\$35.32
18	\$35.90	18	\$36.78	18	\$37.71	18	\$38.68	18	\$39.70
19	\$36.80	19	\$37.68	19	\$38.61	19	\$39.58	19	\$40.60

R.N.'s shall be paid for snow days, in-service days, and seven paid holidays – Columbus Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas, New Years, Martin Luther King Day and Memorial Day.

 Payment for nurses to attend required monthly meetings, as well as one additional meeting per semester (as agreed to), sports physicals, and other events, will be paid at the curriculum rate or their per diem rate, whichever is higher. Payments to begin with the start of the 2017-2018 school year.

- Nurses are encouraged to attend their building's Open House. Those who do attend will be compensated at the rate outlined in G.2 above. Nurses who are unable to attend will inform the building principal in advance without forfeiture of time.
- 4. Nurses will not be required to attend either mandatory summer professional development day. A nurse can attend voluntarily without compensation if space is available.
- 5. The District and Association will meet prior to January 1, 2018, to set parameters of the "optional meeting per semester" as stated in G.2.

H. INTERPRETERS, IN-SCHOOL SUSPENSION SUPERVISORS AND TUTORS

1. Interpreters for the Hearing Impaired

			ın	terprete	rs Schedu	116		-	
2016-2017		2017-2018		2018-2019		201	2019-2020 2020-202		0-2021
Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly	Steps	Hourly
1	\$ 22.14	1	\$ 23.17	1	\$ 24.26	1	\$ 25.40	1	\$ 26.59
2	\$ 22.60	2	\$ 23.63	2	\$ 24.72	_ 2	\$ 25.86	2	\$ 27.05
3	\$ 23.00	3	\$ 24.03	3	\$ 25.12	3	\$ 26.26	3	\$ 27.45
4	\$ 23.35	4	\$ 24.38	4	\$ 25.47	4	\$ 26.61	4	\$ 27.80
5	\$ 24.49	5	\$ 25.52	5	\$ 26.61	5	\$ 27.75	5	\$ 28.94
6	\$ 25.24	6	\$ 26.27	6	\$ 27.36	6	\$ 28.50	6	\$ 29.69
7	\$ 25.99	7	\$ 27.02	7	\$ 28.11	7	\$ 29.25	7	\$ 30.44
8	\$ 26.74	8	\$ 27.77	8	\$ 28.86	8	\$ 30.00	8	\$ 31.19

Interpreters shall receive three (3) personal days and fifteen sick days (retroactive to July 1, 2014) to be applied and accrued in the same manner as all other bargaining unit members. Interpreters shall be paid for snow days, in-service days, and seven paid holidays – Columbus Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas, New Years, Martin Luther King Day and Memorial Day.

2. In School Suspension Supervisor

2.	2016-2017	7	spension Supervisor				2018-2019		2019-2020	2020-2021		
Step	Hourly	Step	Hourly	Step	Hourly	Step	Hourly	Step	Hourly			
3.cp	\$ 19.32	1	\$ 20.20	1	\$ 21.14	1	\$ 22.11	1	\$ 23.13			
2	\$ 19.94	2	\$ 20.82	2	\$ 21.76	2	\$ 22.73	2	\$ 23.75			
3	\$ 20.44	3	\$ 21.32	3	\$ 22.26	3	\$ 23.23	3	\$ 24.25			
4	\$ 20.84	4	\$ 21.72	4	\$ 22.66	4	\$ 23.63	4	\$ 24.65			
5	\$ 21.77	5	\$ 22.65	5	\$ 23.59	5	\$ 24.56	5	\$ 25.58			
6	\$ 22.52	6	\$ 23.40	6	\$ 24.34	6	\$ 25.31	6	\$ 26.33			
7	\$ 23.27	7	\$ 24.15	7	\$ 25.09	7	\$ 26.06	7	\$ 27.08			
8	\$ 24.02	8	\$ 24.90	8	\$ 25.84	8	\$ 26.81	8	\$ 27.83			

In-School Suspension Supervisors shall receive three (3) personal days and fifteen sick days (retroactive to July 1, 2014) to be applied and accrued in the same manner as all other bargaining unit members. In-School Suspension Supervisors shall be paid for snow days, in-service days, and seven paid holidays – Columbus Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas, New Years, Martin Luther King Day and Memorial Day

Tutors

Tutors' graduate hour payments for courses will fall within the same credit hour rules/limits as previously described in part A5 of this article for all unit members. Tutor Schedule: 2015-2016 through July 1, 2021 - \$28,027.

I. ADDITIONAL WORK

- 1. Any additional hourly work outside of the defined workday (eg. curriculum, home tutor, chaperones, detention supervisors, , paid committee work) that is approved by the administration shall be paid at the following hourly rate: The rate shall be \$26.00/hour. Members must be informed in writing of whether committee work is paid or unpaid prior to canvassing for volunteers.
- Summer School rate of pay for Rome City School District run Summer School Programs:
 Effective July 1, 2017 \$27 per hour
 Effective July 1, 2018 \$29 per hour
 Effective July 1, 2019 \$31 per hour

J. SPECIAL PROGRAM SALARIES

1. Director of Adult Education.....\$1,650 per year

Supervisor of Americanization Program, if a teacher....... \$ 330 per year

- 2. Adult Education Rate \$8.00 per hour
 - a) One 80 minute class per evening.....\$11.00
 - b) Two 80 minute classes per evening......\$22.00
 - c) One 120 minute class per evening.....\$16.00
 - d) One 160 minute class per evening......\$21.00
- 3. Gifted and Talented Coordinator
 - a) \$333 for each discipline coordinated

Any professional staff member who is required to use his/her private vehicle in the discharge of his/her duties shall be compensated at the rate of 32 cents per mile or at the current Federal rate as designated by the IRS, whichever is higher.

L. Members of this unit who are assigned beyond the school calendar shall be compensated at 1/200th of their annual salary except those employed in special programs and summer school.

M. SALARY EXTRA CURRICULAR

1. Definitions:

- A. Club: is defined as either an ongoing long term (a semester or more), regularly convening group with consistency of students and consistency of purpose OR an intense shortened period of time with extremely high volume of time with a consistent group of students geared to a culminating event.
- B. Activity: is defined as an event where teachers engage with students outside of contractual hours for the purposes of (but not limited to) enrichment events, organizational events, educational events, or community service events. Activities are limited in duration. They may or may not involve the same group of students throughout, and may be one day or multiple days. Activities generally do not culminate with a single final event.
- 2. Clubs will be assigned to one of seven classifications. Stipends and categories will be listed as part of the collective bargaining agreement and considered part of the bargaining process.
- 3. The District agrees to allocate funding from the approved budget to each building location for payment of clubs and/or activities.
- 4. In the spring of each year, clubs for consideration will be submitted on a preapproved, mutually agreed upon form to the Building Administration (Club Request Form.)
- 5. In the spring of each year, clubs will be evaluated based on Board Policy #4600 using a preapproved, mutually agreed upon form (Club Evaluation Form).
- 6. An individual submitting a request for a new club/activity to be approved, will be the advisor assigned to the club/activity for the first year. Once a club is established, any individual will have the opportunity to submit a form requesting to advise a club. In the event of multiple submissions for the same club, the incumbent advisor will be given preference over other applicants, if the evaluation of the club from the prior year does not warrant a change in advisor.
- 7. Each building Administration and/or director will determine which clubs and/or activities will run.
- 8. The parties agree that any advisor not able to complete their responsibilities in full will have their stipend pro-rated to reflect the amount of time served as an advisor. Further, any individual who replaces an advisor part way through a year, will receive the balance of the unused stipend.

Club Request Form

	Please complete the club request form and return to building principal
	School Year Applying For:
	Name of club:
	Present/Recent Club Advisor(s):
	Location of Club (school):
	Objective for the club:
	Approximate number of students involved:
	Student contact time:
	Frequency of club meetings? (Weekly, Biweekly, Monthly, etc):
	Ouration of club meetings? (full year, semester, seasonal, etc.):
	Estimated number of contact hours per meeting?
	dentification of "Special Events" (performances, culminating activity, capstone event, etc.)
9	
,	Additional Advisor Work
	Annual travel time/distance (if applicable):
	reparatory Time (Annual) if applicable
•	Other information you feel is important:
_	
-	
-	
3	gnature: Date:

Club Evaluation Form

Please complete the club evaluation form and return to building principal on or before June 1.
School Year:
Name of club:
Present Club Advisor(s):
Location of Club (school):
Objective for the club:
Number of students involved (provide roster):
Student contact time:
How often did you meet? (provide schedule/calendar)
What months did you operate the club?
How long was each meeting?
Identification of "Special Events" (performances, culminating activity, capstone event, etc.)
In your opinion, did you meet the specified objectives. Why or why not?:
Signature: Date:

Club Stipends

One Advisor A=\$2,500 B= \$2,100	Multiple Advisors (Multiple Advisors will equally split the yearly stipend) \$3,600 \$2,800
C=\$1,800	\$2,400
D=\$1,400	\$2,100
E=\$1,200	\$1,800
F=\$900	\$1,400
G=\$700	\$1,000

Each year in May the District will provide to each building principal and director an approved budgetary amount to be used for clubs and activities within each building and within the district as outlined by the Board of Education policy. Clubs or activities that are approved will be paid the negotiated amount.

N. Attendance officer who possesses a guidance degree \$600.

O. PHYSICAL EDUCATION COACHING AND EXTRA ACTIVITIES

- 1. All assignments will be considered to be on a year to year basis. Notification of resignation from or termination of assignment or any change in assignment will be given in writing with reasons as soon as possible following the sport season.
- 2. Records of assignments will be maintained by the Athletic Director or the Director of Activity or Principal.
- 3. Head Varsity coaches and trainer may be allowed to attend one or more clinics in their assigned area during the school year.
- 4. Physical Education Teachers have traditionally been utilized to conduct intramural activities and it is intended that this practice shall continue. Should a situation arise where no P.E. faculty desire to handle a particular intramural activity, that vacancy will be posted and assigned to another qualified applicant. For purposes of this provision "qualified" shall mean that the individual shall (a) have a college major in physical education or (b) have participated in the activity in question in college at the varsity or club level or (c) have satisfactory experience in the activity as part of the intramural program in the Rome City Schools or (d) have such other experience which the District may, at its discretion, deem adequate in lieu of the above criteria. Assignment may be made to a P.E. teacher if no qualified applicant can be found.
- 5. The intramural/extramural scheduling of physical education teachers or other qualified staff shall include four nights a week. Friday scheduling will be avoided whenever possible.
- 6. Compensation for coaching or intramurals will be paid in a lump sum, by separate check at the end of the activity unless the staff member notifies the District prior to the beginning of the activity that he/she wishes it to be incorporated in the annual salary. In cases where teachers receive salary for services not rendered, such salary will be returned to the Board of Education.
- 7. Credit for previous coaching will apply only to that experience accumulated in the specific area. J.V. experience will apply if one is advanced to the varsity level. Experience from other schools will be considered.
- 8. The minimum coaching differential shall apply for the first year of experience in the particular sport; the mid-point of the differential shall apply at the beginning of the second year, and the maximum at the beginning of the third year.

- Any coach who has previously signed a contract for the following season may apply for any coaching position which may thereafter become vacant without being penalized for having signed the forthcoming year's contract early.
- 10. Teacher participation in interscholastic and extramural/intramural activities shall be on a mutually acceptable basis.
- 11. Teachers of Physical Education and teachers of subjects other than physical education who may be assigned to a coaching activity shall be paid for that activity in accordance with the following list:

P. <u>INTERSCHOLASTIC/EXTRAMURAL INTRAMURAL</u>

The following is agreed as the revised list of coaching assignments and their classification for pay purposes. In the event of a downgrade, the change will not be made while an incumbent coach retains the position.

Coaches of Interscholastic sports teams will be placed on the appropriate salary schedule in accordance with the sports team they coach.

- Category A Varsity Football, Varsity Basketball, Varsity Wrestling, Varsity Ice Hockey, Varsity Boys Swimming, Varsity Indoor Track, Varsity Girls Volleyball.
- Category B Varsity Soccer, Varsity Track, Varsity Baseball, Varsity Field Hockey, Varsity Lacrosse, Varsity Softball, Varsity Cross Country, Varsity Girls Swimming, Varsity Gymnastics, Assistant Varsity Football, Equipment/Trainer Football.
- Category C Head JV Football, JV Wrestling, JV Basketball, Assistant Varsity Ice Hockey, Assistant Varsity Boys Swimming, JV Girls Volleyball.
- Category D

 Assistant JV Football, JH Wrestling, JH Basketball, JH Boys Swimming,
 Assistant Varsity Track, JV Baseball, Head JH Track, JV Soccer, JV Field
 Hockey, JV Softball, Head JH Football, Head 9th Football, 9th Boys Basketball,
 JH Basketball, Varsity Skiing, Varsity Tennis, JH Volleyball, Varsity Golf,
 Varsity Bowling, JH Cross Country, Assistant Girls Varsity Swimming.
- Category E 9th Volleyball, 9th Girls Basketball, Assistant JH Football, JH Field Hockey, JH Soccer, 9th Soccer, JH Girls Swimming, 9th Lacrosse, JH Softball, JH Baseball, 9th Baseball, Assistant JH Track.
- Category F Varsity Fall Cheerleading, Varsity Winter Cheerleading.

							COACHES						
	2017-2018												
Year													
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
A	\$3,701.00	\$4,416.00	\$5,132.00	\$5,286.00	\$5,430.00	\$5,571.00	\$5,713.00	\$5,856.00	\$5,999.00	\$6,141.00	\$6,285.00	\$6,425.00	\$6,568.00
В	\$2,838.00	\$3,371.00	\$3,902.00	\$4,056.00	\$4,201.00	\$4,341.00	\$4,484.00	\$4,627.00	\$4,769.00	\$4,911.00	\$5,054.00	\$5,197.00	\$5,340.00
C	\$2,695.00	\$3,215.00	\$3,732.00	\$3,886.00	\$4,028.00	\$4,169.00	\$4,309.00	\$4,451.00	\$4,592.00	\$4,732.00	\$4,875.00	\$5,014.00	\$5,156.00
D	\$2,534.00	\$2,957.00	\$3,245.00	\$3,532.00	\$3,675.00	\$3,813.00	\$3,954.00	\$4,097.00	\$4,238.00	\$4,380.00	\$4,519.00	\$4,661.00	\$4,803.00
E	\$2,371.00	\$2,789.00	\$3,208.00	\$3,360.00	\$3,500.00	\$3,639.00	\$3,779.00	\$3,919.00	\$4,058.00	\$4,198.00	\$4,338.00	\$4,476.00	\$4,618.00
F	\$1,994.00	\$2,345,00	\$2,695,00	\$2,846,00	\$2,987,00	\$3,126,00	\$3,265.00	\$3,406,00	\$3,545,00	\$3,685,00	\$3,825,00	\$3,964,00	\$4,105,00

INTRAMURALS 2016 - 2021						
2 days 4 days 5 Days						
Fall	\$411	\$823	\$1,028			
Winter	\$627	\$1,256	\$1,544			
Spring	\$538	\$1,057	\$1,321			

SPECIAL STIPEND

If any interscholastic team or athlete qualifies for Sectional or State competition beyond the normal season, the District shall reimburse the accompanying coach(es) for reasonable expenses of travel, lodging, and meals, subject to approval by the Athletic Director and the Director of Business & Finance.

Varsity coaching pay beyond the sectional level will be increased on a per diem basis pro rata.

Q. After School Accountability Program

- 1. Positions created to provide instruction in the after school accountability program created by the Academic Eligibility Policy shall be bargaining unit positions. Current members of the Rome Teacher Association shall have first right of refusal for any positions relative to this program. Priority in appointment to these positions shall be given to teachers of core subject areas in the affected schools. One program supervisor at the Middle School and one program supervisor at the High School Level at \$35/hour.
- 2. There shall be two different instructional areas offered through the after school accountability program. One component shall be instruction in Study Skills, and the other component shall be instruction in the core subject areas.
- 3. The rate of pay for instructors of the Study Skills component of the after school accountability program shall be thirty-five dollars (\$35) per hour. Class size shall be limited to a maximum of twenty (20) students in each Study Skills class.
- 4. The rate of pay for the core subject area breakout groups shall be consistent with the additional work rate defined in Article 40.H of the Agreement between the parties. Class size for these core subject area breakout groups shall be limited to a maximum of ten (10) students.

R CORRIDOR DUTY

School Year Corridor Duty (Strough and RFA)

1. The District may seek twelve (12) volunteers to perform corridor supervision in each of two buildings: Strough and Rome Free Academy. The number of teachers required for each period shall be determined by the Principal. If less than twelve (12) teachers volunteer in any one of the aforementioned buildings, the Principal may assign teachers until the maximum of twelve (12) is reached.

2. School Year corridor supervision positions will be posted with applications due early enough to be incorporated into the make-up of teacher schedules for the following year. Principals will schedule staff assignments so as to maximize the use of volunteers in providing coverage

throughout the day.

3. Effective July 1, 2017, all teachers who volunteer for corridor supervision must provide the service during a preparation or lunch period (as requirement may necessitate) and will be paid

at the rate of eleven dollars (\$11) per period of service.

4. Teachers may not be assigned during preparation or lunch periods. Teachers who must be assigned will, if possible within the limits of moderate schedule changes not affecting teaching assignments, be given the option of providing the service during a preparation or lunch period at the rate of eleven dollars (\$11) per period of service. or perform said supervisory duty in lieu of study hall for no pay.

 All involuntary assignments to corridor supervision will be rotated each semester in reverse order of seniority among those teachers available for the period during which an assignment

is to be made.

6. If a Principal wishes to exceed the twelve (12) corridor supervision positions, the Administrator must review with the Superintendent of Schools. Additional volunteers may be utilized and will be paid at the rate of eleven dollars (\$11) per period of service.

RFA/Strough Morning Corridor Duty - Teachers at Rome Free Academy and Strough may provide corridor supervision for the period of thirty (30) minutes prior to the start of the

workday. This morning duty shall be subject to the following conditions:

a. Participation in morning corridor duty shall be voluntary on the part of bargaining unit members. The Superintendent or Designee will establish a maximum number of unit members based on its yearly needs.

b. Unit members will be chosen based on District-wide seniority within the building

location up to the established maximum.

c. Morning Corridor Duty will be paid at a rate of eight dollars (\$8.00) per day of service.

Salary Schedules 1

2016-2017						
BS	BS+30	BS + 60	BS + 90			
\$39,306	\$42,557	\$46,027	\$49,496			
\$40,174	\$43,642	\$47,112	\$50,581			
\$41,256	\$44,726	\$48,195	\$51,665			
\$42,341	\$45,811	\$49,280	\$52,749			
\$43,425	\$46,895	\$50,363	\$53,833			
\$44,510	\$47,980	\$51,448	\$54,918			
\$45,594	\$49,062	\$52,532	\$56,001			
\$46,678	\$50,147	\$53,617	\$57,086			
\$47,762	\$51,231	\$54,671	\$58,169			
\$48,846	\$52,316	\$55,785	\$59,254			
\$49,930	\$53,400	\$56,868	\$60,338			
\$51,015	\$54,484	\$57,953	\$61,423			
\$52,098	\$55,567	\$59,037	\$62,507			
\$53,183	\$56,652	\$60,122	\$63,591			
\$54,267	\$57,736	\$61,206	\$64,674			
\$55,352	\$59,146	\$62,832	\$66,409			
\$57,086	\$60,772	\$65,108	\$68,578			
\$58,183	\$62,194	\$66,746	\$70,162			
\$60,025	\$63,820	\$69,891	\$74,283			
\$62,627	\$66,855	\$73,252	\$78,078			
\$64,277	\$68,072	\$74,685	\$79,402			
\$66,445	\$71,433	\$77,287	\$82,546			
\$72,173	\$76,743	\$83,383	\$88,940			
	\$39,306 \$40,174 \$41,256 \$42,341 \$43,425 \$44,510 \$45,594 \$46,678 \$47,762 \$48,846 \$49,930 \$51,015 \$52,098 \$53,183 \$54,267 \$55,352 \$57,086 \$58,183 \$60,025 \$62,627 \$66,445	BS BS+30 \$39,306 \$42,557 \$40,174 \$43,642 \$41,256 \$44,726 \$42,341 \$45,811 \$43,425 \$46,895 \$44,510 \$47,980 \$45,594 \$49,062 \$46,678 \$50,147 \$47,762 \$51,231 \$48,846 \$52,316 \$49,930 \$53,400 \$51,015 \$54,484 \$52,098 \$55,567 \$53,183 \$56,652 \$54,267 \$57,736 \$55,352 \$59,146 \$57,086 \$60,772 \$58,183 \$62,194 \$60,025 \$63,820 \$62,627 \$66,855 \$64,277 \$68,072 \$66,445 \$71,433	BS BS+30 BS + 60 \$39,306 \$42,557 \$46,027 \$40,174 \$43,642 \$47,112 \$41,256 \$44,726 \$48,195 \$42,341 \$45,811 \$49,280 \$43,425 \$46,895 \$50,363 \$44,510 \$47,980 \$51,448 \$45,594 \$49,062 \$52,532 \$46,678 \$50,147 \$53,617 \$47,762 \$51,231 \$54,671 \$48,846 \$52,316 \$55,785 \$49,930 \$53,400 \$56,868 \$51,015 \$54,484 \$57,953 \$52,098 \$55,567 \$59,037 \$53,183 \$56,652 \$60,122 \$54,267 \$57,736 \$61,206 \$55,352 \$59,146 \$62,832 \$57,086 \$60,772 \$65,108 \$58,183 \$62,194 \$66,746 \$60,025 \$63,820 \$69,891 \$62,627 \$66,855 \$73,252 \$64,277 \$68,072 \$74,68			

	2017-2018						
Step	BS	BS+30	BS + 60	BS + 90			
4	\$40,465	\$43,716	\$47,186	\$50,655			
5	\$41,333	\$44,801	\$48,271	\$51,740			
6	\$42,415	\$45,885	\$49,354	\$52,824			
7	\$43,500	\$46,970	\$50,439	\$53,908			
8	\$44,584	\$48,054	\$51,522	\$54,992			
9	\$45,669	\$49,139	\$52,607	\$56,077			
10	\$46,753	\$50,221	\$53,691	\$57,160			
11	\$47,837	\$51,306	\$54,776	\$58,245			
12	\$48,921	\$52,390	\$55,830	\$59,328			
13	\$50,005	\$53,475	\$56,944	\$60,413			
14	\$51,089	\$54,559	\$58,027	\$61,497			
15	\$52,174	\$55,643	\$59,112	\$62,582			
16	\$53,257	\$56,726	\$60,196	\$63,666			
17	\$54,342	\$57,811	\$61,281	\$64,750			
18	\$55,426	\$58,895	\$62,365	\$65,833			
19	\$56,511	\$60,305	\$63,991	\$67,568			
20	\$58,245	\$61,931	\$66,267	\$69,737			
21	\$59,342	\$63,353	\$67,905	\$71,321			
22	\$61,184	\$64,979	\$71,050	\$75,442			
23	\$63,786	\$68,014	\$74,411	\$79,237			
24	\$65,436	\$69,231	\$75,844	\$80,561			
25	\$67,604	\$72,592	\$78,446	\$83,705			
26	\$73,332	\$77,902	\$84,542	\$90,099			

Salary Schedules 1 continued

	2018-2019							
Step	BS	BS+30	BS + 60	BS + 90				
4	\$41,685	\$44,936	\$48,406	\$51,875				
5	\$42,553	\$46,021	\$49,491	\$52,960				
6	\$43,635	\$47,105	\$50,574	\$54,044				
7	\$44,720	\$48,190	\$51,659	\$55,128				
8	\$45,804	\$49,274	\$52,742	\$56,212				
9	\$46,889	\$50,359	\$53,827	\$57,297				
10	\$47,973	\$51,441	\$54,911	\$58,380				
11	\$49,057	\$52,526	\$55,996	\$59,465				
12	\$50,141	\$53,610	\$57,050	\$60,548				
13	\$51,225	\$54,695	\$58,164	\$61,633				
14	\$52,309	\$55,779	\$59,247	\$62,717				
15	\$53,394	\$56,863	\$60,332	\$63,802				
16	\$54,477	\$57,946	\$61,416	\$64,886				
17	\$55,562	\$59,031	\$62,501	\$65,970				
18	\$56,646	\$60,115	\$63,585	\$67,053				
19	\$57,731	\$61,525	\$65,211	\$68,788				
20	\$59,465	\$63,151	\$67,487	\$70,957				
21	\$60,562	\$64,573	\$69,125	\$72,541				
22	\$62,404	\$66,199	\$72,270	\$76,662				
23	\$65,006	\$69,234	\$75,631	\$80,457				
24	\$66,656	\$70,451	\$77,064	\$81,781				
25	\$68,824	\$73,812	\$79,666	\$84,925				
26	\$74,552	\$79,122	\$85,762	\$91,319				

		2019-202	20	
Step	BS	BS+30	BS + 60	BS + 90
4	\$42,954	\$46,205	\$49,675	\$53,144
5	\$43,822	\$47,290	\$50,760	\$54,229
6	\$44,904	\$48,374	\$51,843	\$55,313
7	\$45,989	\$49,459	\$52,928	\$56,397
8	\$47,073	\$50,543	\$54,011	\$57,481
9	\$48,158	\$51,628	\$55,096	\$58,566
10	\$49,242	\$52,710	\$56,180	\$59,649
11	\$50,326	\$53,795	\$57,265	\$60,734
12	\$51,410	\$54,879	\$58,319	\$61,817
13	\$52,494	\$55,964	\$59,433	\$62,902
14	\$53,578	\$57,048	\$60,516	\$63,986
15	\$54,663	\$58,132	\$61,601	\$65,071
16	\$55,746	\$59,215	\$62,685	\$66,155
17	\$56,831	\$60,300	\$63,770	\$67,239
18	\$57,915	\$61,384	\$64,854	\$68,322
19	\$59,000	\$62,794	\$66,480	\$70,057
20	\$60,734	\$64,420	\$68,756	\$72,226
21	\$61,831	\$65,842	\$70,394	\$73,810
22	\$63,673	\$67,468	\$73,539	\$77,931
23	\$66,275	\$70,503	\$76,900	\$81,726
24	\$67,925	\$71,720	\$78,333	\$83,050
25	\$70,093	\$75,081	\$80,935	\$86,194
26	\$75,821	\$80,391	\$87,031	\$92,588

Salary Schedules 1 continued

		2020 202	\4					
- 1	2020-2021							
Step	BS	BS+30	BS + 60	BS + 90				
4	\$44,289	\$47,540	\$51,010	\$54,479				
5	\$45,157	\$48,625	\$52,095	\$55,564				
6	\$46,239	\$49,709	\$53,178	\$56,648				
7	\$47,324	\$50,794	\$54,263	\$57,732				
8	\$48,408	\$51,878	\$55,346	\$58,816				
9	\$49,493	\$52,963	\$56,431	\$59,901				
10	\$50,577	\$54,045	\$57,515	\$60,984				
11	\$51,661	\$55,130	\$58,600	\$62,069				
12	\$52,745	\$56,214	\$59,654	\$63,152				
13	\$53,829	\$57,299	\$60,768	\$64,237				
14	\$54,913	\$58,383	\$61,851	\$65,321				
15	\$55,998	\$59,467	\$62,936	\$66,406				
16	\$57,081	\$60,550	\$64,020	\$67,490				
17	\$58,166	\$61,635	\$65,105	\$68,574				
18	\$59,250	\$62,719	\$66,189	\$69,657				
19	\$60,335	\$64,129	\$67,815	\$71,392				
20	\$62,069	\$65,755	\$70,091	\$73,561				
21	\$63,166	\$67,177	\$71,729	\$75,145				
22	\$65,008	\$68,803	\$74,874	\$79,266				
23	\$67,610	\$71,838	\$78,235	\$83,061				
24	\$69,260	\$73,055	\$79,668	\$84,385				
25	\$71,428	\$76,416	\$82,270	\$87,529				
26	\$77,156	\$81,726	\$88,366	\$93,923				

Salary Schedules 2

2016-17 Schedule 2							
STEP	BS	BS30	BS60	BS90			
4	\$40,156	\$43,407	\$46,877	\$50,346			
5	\$41,156	\$44,407	\$47,877	\$51,346			
6	\$42,156	\$45,407	\$48,877	\$52,346			
7	\$43,156	\$46,407	\$49,877	\$53,346			
8	\$44,156	\$47,407	\$50,877	\$54,346			
9	\$45,156	\$48,407	\$51,877	\$55,346			
10	\$46,156	\$49,407	\$52,877	\$56,346			
11	\$47,156	\$50,407	\$53,877	\$57,346			
12	\$48,156	\$51,407	\$54,877	\$58,346			
13	\$49,156	\$52,407	\$55,877	\$59,346			
14	\$50,156	\$53,407	\$56,877	\$60,346			
15	\$51,156	\$54,407	\$57,877	\$61,346			
16	\$52,156	\$55,407	\$58,877	\$62,346			
17	\$53,156	\$56,407	\$59,877	\$63,346			
18	\$54,156	\$57,407	\$60,877	\$64,346			
19	\$55,156	\$58,407	\$61,877	\$65,346			
20	\$56,156	\$59,407	\$62,877	\$66,346			
21	\$57,156	\$60,407	\$63,877	\$67,346			
22	\$58,156	\$61,407	\$64,877	\$68,340			
23	\$59,156	\$62,407	\$65,877	\$69,340			
24	\$60,156	\$63,407	\$66,877	\$70,346			

	20	17-18 Sched	ule 2	
STEP	BS	BS30	BS60	BS90
4	\$41,315	\$44,566	\$48,036	\$51,505
5	\$42,315	\$45,566	\$49,036	\$52,505
6	\$43,315	\$46,566	\$50,036	\$53,505
7	\$44,315	\$47,566	\$51,036	\$54,505
8	\$45,315	\$48,566	\$52,036	\$55,505
9	\$46,315	\$49,566	\$53,036	\$56,505
10	\$47,315	\$50,566	\$54,036	\$57,505
11	\$48,315	\$51,566	\$55,036	\$58,505
12	\$49,315	\$52,566	\$56,036	\$59,50
13	\$50,315	\$53,566	\$57,036	\$60,50
14	\$51,315	\$54,566	\$58,036	\$61,50
15	\$52,315	\$55,566	\$59,036	\$62,50
16	\$53,315	\$56,566	\$60,036	\$63,50
17	\$54,315	\$57,566	\$61,036	\$64,50
18	\$55,315	\$58,566	\$62,036	\$65,50
19	\$56,315	\$59,566	\$63,036	\$66,50
20	\$57,315	\$60,566	\$64,036	\$67,50
21	\$58,315	\$61,566	\$65,036	\$68,50
22	\$59,315	\$62,566	\$66,036	\$69,50
23	\$60,315	\$63,566	\$67,036	\$70,50
24	\$61,315	\$64,566	\$68,036	\$71,50

	20	18-19 Sched	ule 2	
STEP	BS	BS30	BS60	BS90
4	\$42,535	\$45,786	\$49,256	\$52,725
5	\$43,535	\$46,786	\$50,256	\$53,725
6	\$44,535	\$47,786	\$51,256	\$54,725
7	\$45,535	\$48,786	\$52,256	\$55,725
8	\$46,535	\$49,786	\$53,256	\$56,725
9	\$47,535	\$50,786	\$54,256	\$57,725
10	\$48,535	\$51,786	\$55,256	\$58,725
11	\$49,535	\$52,786	\$56,256	\$59,725
12	\$50,535	\$53,786	\$57,256	\$60,725
13	\$51,535	\$54,786	\$58,256	\$61,725
14	\$52,535	\$55,786	\$59,256	\$62,725
15	\$53,535	\$56,786	\$60,256	\$63,725
16	\$54,535	\$57,786	\$61,256	\$64,725
17	\$55,535	\$58,786	\$62,256	\$65,725
18	\$56,535	\$59,786	\$63,256	\$66,725
19	\$57,535	\$60,786	\$64,256	\$67,725
20	\$58,535	\$61,786	\$65,256	\$68,725
21	\$59,535	\$62,786	\$66,256	\$69,725
22	\$60,535	\$63,786	\$67,256	\$70,725
23	\$61,535	\$64,786	\$68,256	\$71,725
24	\$62,535	\$65,786	\$69,256	\$72,72

Salary Schedules 2

continued

2019-20 Schedule <u>2</u>							
STEP	BS	BS30	BS60	BS90			
4	\$43,804	\$47,055	\$50,525	\$53,994			
5	\$44,804	\$48,055	\$51,525	\$54,994			
6	\$45,804	\$49,055	\$52,525	\$55,994			
7	\$46,804	\$50,055	\$53,525	\$56,994			
8	\$47,804	\$51,055	\$54,525	\$57,994			
9	\$48,804	\$52,055	\$55,525	\$58,994			
10	\$49,804	\$53,055	\$56,525	\$59,994			
11	\$50,804	\$54,055	\$57,525	\$60,994			
12	\$51,804	\$55,055	\$58,525	\$61,994			
13	\$52,804	\$56,055	\$59,525	\$62,994			
14	\$53,804	\$57,055	\$60,525	\$63,994			
15	\$54,804	\$58,055	\$61,525	\$64,994			
16	\$55,804	\$59,055	\$62,525	\$65,994			
17	\$56,804	\$60,055	\$63,525	\$66,994			
18	\$57,804	\$61,055	\$64,525	\$67,994			
19	\$58,804	\$62,055	\$65,525	\$68,994			
20	\$59,804	\$63,055	\$66,525	\$69,994			
21	\$60,804	\$64,055	\$67,525	\$70,994			
22	\$61,804	\$65,055	\$68,525	\$71,994			
23	\$62,804	\$66,055	\$69,525	\$72,994			
24	\$63,804	\$67,055	\$70,525	\$73,994			

2020-21 Schedule 2						
STEP	BS	BS30	BS60	BS90		
4	\$45,139	\$48,390	\$51,860	\$55,329		
5	\$46,139	\$49,390	\$52,860	\$56,329		
6	\$47,139	\$50,390	\$53,860	\$57,329		
7	\$48,139	\$51,390	\$54,860	\$58,329		
8	\$49,139	\$52,390	\$55,860	\$59,329		
9	\$50,139	\$53,390	\$56,860	\$60,329		
10	\$51,139	\$54,390	\$57,860	\$61,329		
11	\$52,139	\$55,390	\$58,860	\$62,329		
12	\$53,139	\$56,390	\$59,860	\$63,329		
13	\$54,139	\$57,390	\$60,860	\$64,329		
14	\$55,139	\$58,390	\$61,860	\$65,329		
15	\$56,139	\$59,390	\$62,860	\$66,329		
16	\$57,139	\$60,390	\$63,860	\$67,329		
17	\$58,139	\$61,390	\$64,860	\$68,329		
18	\$59,139	\$62,390	\$65,860	\$69,329		
19	\$60,139	\$63,390	\$66,860	\$70,329		
20	\$61,139	\$64,390	\$67,860	\$71,329		
21	\$62,139	\$65,390	\$68,860	\$72,329		
22	\$63,139	\$66,390	\$69,860	\$73,329		
23	\$64,139	\$67,390	\$70,860	\$74,329		
24	\$65,139	\$68,390	\$71,860	\$75,329		

ARTICLE 41 INSURANCE AND ANNUITIES

A. HEALTH INSURANCE

- 1. A. All bargaining unit members assigned full time or full schedule for the type of assignment involved shall be entitled to coverage in the Madison-Herkimer-Oneida BOCES Health Consortium \$10 Blue PPO Plan (hereinafter "the plan"). This plan shall include dental and vision riders, and a \$5 co-pay for generic drugs, \$15 co-pay for brand name drugs, and \$30 co-pay for non-formulary drugs. Effective upon ratification of this agreement, all in-service employees and retired employees contained within this bargaining unit shall pay \$10 co-pay for generic drugs, a \$20 co-pay for name brand drugs and a \$35 co-pay for non-formulary drugs.
 - B. Participation by Association members in the plan shall be governed by the following terms. The health insurance plan shall be a fully insured product regulated by the New York State Health Insurance Department.
 - C. The parties agree that the health insurance benefit levels, as provided through Excellus Blue Cross/Blue Shield and as configured through the efforts of that company and the Madison-Oneida-Herkimer BOCES Health Consortium are the agreed upon levels. These levels will be maintained, and will not be changed without the mutual written agreement of the parties to this collective bargaining agreement. Any changes to the plan or benefit levels throughout the duration of this agreement must be equal to, or better than the \$10 Blue PPO plan.
 - D. The parties mutually agree to re-open negotiations concerning health insurance during the term of this contract in the event that:
 - 1. Benefit levels are reduced by the administrators of BC/BS, or the Consortium, or
 - 2. If the District experiences sharply increased premium charges or consistently increasing premium charges in consecutive years during the life of the agreement.
 - E. Any changes in the plan or benefit levels that are not made by mutual written agreement between the parties, or that the Association deems to be a reduction in benefits, are subject to the grievance and arbitration language as outlined in Article 37 of this Agreement.
 - F. The District shall make available any information and provide copies of any documents concerning the operation of the MOH Health Care Consortium, its health plans, its financial conditions and any matter pertinent to the subject as may be requested by the Rome Teachers Association. The Superintendent shall notify the Association president in advance of any MOH Board of Directors meeting and provide a copy of the agenda prior to such meeting, and a copy of the minutes of any meeting of the MOH Board of Directors.
- 2. The District will provide a Flex Plan to provide tax benefits for those contributing to health insurance premiums and/or having eligible child care expenses.

On the same effective date, the District's contribution rate will change from 100% employee cost and 80% dependent cost to 100% and 70% respectively.

If the Federal Government and the District should render the tax benefit null and void, the rate will return to 80%.

The District will offer part three of the Flex Plan. Any unit member electing to participate will be responsible for the administrative fee.

Persons retiring after July 1, 1992, shall have a District contribution rate of 100% individual and 70% dependent premium cost.

- 3. It is agreed by the parties that contribution of health insurance coverage for retirees and the contribution rates agreed hereunder are enforceable under the grievance procedure to arbitration. It is further understood that retired members who are eligible to receive Medicare reimbursement, or who qualify for the same during the term of this Agreement, will receive said reimbursement.
- 4. The specific health insurance package agreed upon and provided for herein shall remain in full force and effect unless modified or changed by mutual agreement of the parties.
- 5. Employees leaving the District or laid off will be entitled to coverage beyond the final date of employment as per current practice.
- 6. In cases where married couples are employed by the District, the spouse with individual coverage may elect to waive same on an annual basis in return for a lump sum payment of one thousand dollars (\$1,000), minus taxes and other applicable withholding. Said waiver shall be on a form to be provided. At the end of each employment year the waiver will automatically continue unless withdrawn by signing up for a renewal of coverage in the appropriate District office.

A married person employed by the district, may elect to waive coverage on an annual basis for a consideration of \$1,000 as previously described.

An employee whose marital or personal status is subject to change may elect to withdraw the waiver on other than an annual basis with a pro rata adjustment of the thousand dollar rate.

Additionally, an employee currently covered under the District's health insurance plan may opt to withdraw from the plan under the same provisions outlined above.

- 7. The parties agree that portions of the financial settlement may be applied to a Benefit Trust Program.
- 8. The parties agree that unit members must have completed at least five (5) years of service in the Rome City School District in order to be vested with regards to health insurance benefits after retirement.

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT 409 BELL ROAD ROME, NEW YORK 13440

Individual Medical Coverage Declination Form

	I hereby exercise my option to decline my individual medical coverage prov Rome City School District.	ided by the
	I verify that I have coverage on the insurance of my spouse. (Copy of proof	required)
	I understand that by declining my medical coverage, I will receive a \$1,000 (minus taxes and other applicable withholdings) no later than thirty days fol initial filing of this form with the Health Insurance Office.	stipend lowing the
	I understand that this agreement shall remain in force in succeeding years un to terminate this declination in writing.	nless I choose
	I understand that in the succeeding years, the stipend will be paid to me at the payroll date in October.	ne second
	I understand that if I choose to terminate this declination and return to the D coverage, I must do so no later than June 15 th of the current plan year. (Plan as July 1 to June 30)	istrict i year defined
	I understand that as a new employee hired after June 15 – this election must within thirty days after I qualify for coverage.	be made
	I understand that if I elect to waive coverage after June 15 – the \$1,000 pays prorated based on the number of months remaining in the plan year following election.	ment will be
	I understand that a "qualifying event" such as a death of a spouse, divorce, coverage due to loss of employment would allow me to return to the District on the first day of the month following the event and I understand the rules would hold true for this decision.	t's coverage
Declining Emp	nployee Signature Date Spouse's Signature	Date
Print Emp	print Spouse's Name Here	 ,
Social Sec	ecurity Number Name of Plan Coverage	Plan ID#

^{*}Note: Proof of insurance (i.e., copy of insurance card) must be attached to this form upon receipt by the Health Insurance Office.

B. TAX SHELTERED ANNUITIES

- 1. The Board shall grant the active professional staff the opportunity to participate in an annuity program.
- 2. The Board will comply with the stated rules in the Internal Revenue Code, which affords so-called tax sheltered treatment to participants who meet the conditions specified in the Code.

ARTICLE 42 EDUCATIONAL POLICY COMMITTEE

An Education Policy Committee shall be appointed by the Superintendent and the President of the Teachers' Association. The objectives of the committee are to promote harmonious and cooperative labor relations, to assure full communications between the parties, to provide a forum for the discussion of educational programs, and philosophy and to permit non-adversary efforts to correct current school problems.

Items for discussion include, but are not limited to, building needs, building design, curricula, development and implementation of new programs, educational philosophy, long-term planning, school problems and practices, cooperative efforts and other matters of professional concern. The Committee will meet with the Superintendent at least once a month released time and after school. The President of the Association and the Superintendent will consult on agenda prior to the meeting.

The Superintendent will inform the President of the Association when an uncertified teacher is employed. At the request of the President, the matter will be included on the agenda for the next following Committee meeting.

The Superintendent agrees to discuss with the Educational Policy Committee, pursuant to the procedures contained in this Article, the development and implementation of new programs for which funds may be requested from the state or federal governments or any other source.

This Committee is not designed to perform the functions of nor be a substitute for the grievance and negotiations procedures.

Article 20	Academic Freedom
Article 24	Inservice Programs
Article 25	Curriculum
Article 26	Monitor
Article 27	Teachers of Students in the 12 Month Program
Article 30	Department Rights
Article 31	Positions in Summer and Evening Schools
Article 33	Class size
Article 34	Leaves
Article 35	Sabbatical Leave
All appendices and side	e letters excluding this.
Contract Articles that a not apply):	pply in part or with revisions as indicated (sections of these Articles not listed do
Article 5	Responsibility A, B, and D apply to In-School Suspension Personnel only; F and G apply to both
Article 6	Appointments of Teachers A, C and E apply
Article 7	Teacher Assignment C (1 st sentence) and H apply
Article 8	Vacancies A, C, D and E apply
Article 11	Substitutes

A, C, D and E apply

Article 11

Substitutes

C, D (1^{st} sentence) and E.1 apply

Article 17

Requisitions

Applies to ISS

Article 18 Teacher Protection
A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L and P apply

Article 28 Teaching Conditions

A, B and D apply

Article 32 Evaluation

J, K, L and M apply

Article 40 will be revised to include H and I

Work Day/Year

A. Interpreters for Hearing Impaired Students

- 1. Interpreters for Hearing Impaired Students shall be hourly employees with a work schedule established by the District. Employees shall be provided with their expected reporting and ending times at the beginning of their assignments.
- 2. Interpreters shall receive three (3) personal days and fifteen sick days to be applied and accrued in the same manner as all other bargaining unit members. Interpreters shall be paid for snow days, in-service days, and seven paid holidays Columbus Day, Veterans

Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas, New Years, Martin Luther King Day, and Memorial Day..

- 3. Employees shall be expected to report when the student(s) for whom they are responsible for providing services are in attendance. In addition, employees shall be paid for any non-student related time they are instructed to report for including conference days and student exam days.
- 4. Additional hours of work outside of the regular school day/year related to the student for whom the interpreter is responsible for providing services to, shall first be offered to that interpreter. In the event that the interpreter elects not to volunteer for this work, the District reserves the right to offer such work to any other individual/agency.

B. In-School Suspension Supervisor

- 1. ISS Supervisors shall be hourly employees with a work schedule established by the District. Employees shall be provided with their expected reporting starting and ending times at the beginning of their assignment.
- 2. ISS Supervisors shall receive three (3) personal days and fifteen sick days to be applied and accrued in the same manner as all other bargaining unit members. ISS Supervisors shall be paid for snow days, in-service days, and seven paid holidays Columbus Day, Veterans Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas, New Years, Martin Luther King Day, and Memorial Day.
- 3. Employees shall be expected to report when the student(s) for whom they are responsible for providing services are in attendance. In addition, employees shall be paid for any non-student related time they are instructed to report for including conference days and student exam days.

C. Partial Hours/Overtime

- 1. Time worked shall be paid in 15 minute increments (i.e., if time worked is 1-15 minutes over an hour = 15 minutes pay, if time worked is 16-30 minutes over an hour=30 minutes pay, etc.)
- 2. Hourly employees shall be paid the overtime rate for any hours over 40 hours physically worked in one (1) week.

D. Insurance

District health premium contributions shall be paid pursuant to Article 41 only to regularly employed full-time interpreters and ISS Supervisors.

- E. Layoff and recall of Full-time Interpreters (as long as they are not subject to Civil Service rules and regulations. In the event that they are subject to such rules this provision is null and void).
 - a. An Interpreter may be excessed, without any seniority consideration, in the event that the student to whom they are responsible for providing services no longer requires interpreting services or leaves the District. In such event, the Interpreter shall be placed on a recall list for a period of one (1) year.
 - b. All other factors being equal and subject to ability and fitness to perform, any interpreter who is more senior than any other interpreter shall be eligible to be first reemployed in the following school (fiscal) year. He/she will be assigned to the interpreter position designated by the District.

- c. The recall notice shall be sent to the last address on record with the District. The employee shall be responsible for notifying the District of any change of address.
- d. Upon reemployment, the interpreter shall be placed on step as follows:
 - 1. If worked less than one full semester the year laid off he/she returns at the same step as when he/she left.
 - 2. If worked in excess of one semester in the year laid off, he/she returns at next higher step, if any.

Mr. Michael Kunkel, President Rome Teachers' Association 310 North George Street Rome, New York 13440

RE: Collection and Handling of Lunch Money

Dear Mr. Kunkel:

This letter is to confirm the mutual understanding of the parties regarding collection and handling of lunch money by elementary staff members, as reached during negotiations for the 1984-87 Agreement.

The District agrees to take reasonable measures during the term of the agreement to relieve the elementary staff from the obligation to collect students' lunch money on a daily basis, provided that, in so doing, the District:

- Shall be able to comply with applicable Federal and State regulations;
- b) Shall incur no additional costs;
- c) Shall remain free to require the elementary staff to take a daily lunch "count" of the students intending to utilize cafeteria facilities.

The above procedures will be effective on a date between the 15th and 31st of October, 1984.

If you agree that the above paragraph accurately describes the understanding of the parties regarding

collection and handling of lunch money in reference to Article XXVIII, Section B, please affix your signature on the line provided below, and return the signed original to me. The copy is for your files.

Very truly yours,

Julius J Perillo Assistant Superintendent Rome City School District

Michael Kunkel, President Rome Teachers' Association
DATE:

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

The Rome City School District and the Rome Teachers Association have agreed that on occasions of adverse weather conditions, the district may need to implement a late arrival procedure which will apply to all staff and students. This may be for a duration of one or two hours as determined by the district. On those days when such a procedure is implemented, the district may find it necessary to alter the normal jeaching day as described in Article 19 and may do so without reference to the normal limitations of preo time as found in this article.

M. Muhehy Ph.D Acting Superintendent of Schools

Date: 4-26-01

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

This is in reference to Article 27 Special Learners. The Rome City School District and the Rome Teachers Association agree to the following language previously found in this article.

Α. HANDICAPPED STUDENTS

When a child is recommended for consideration by the Committee on Special Education, the child's regular classroom teacher shall be notified in a timely fashion and shall have the right, upon request, to appear before said committee. Time off granted for this purpose shall include, in addition to the time spent with the Committee, twenty (20) minutes travel time each way The Administration will arrange for coverage of the teacher's regular class. There is no requirement to employ a substitute; however, the District may not require another teacher to take additional students or to cover another teacher's class for this purpose unless on a voluntary basis.

B. SPECIAL NEEDS

- The Superintendent and the Association recognize the special needs of learners not qualifying as handicapped in accordance with statute.
- 2. The assessment of these needs and the means of meeting these needs shall be determined by a committee appointed by the Superintendent and the Association President. The professional staff shall explore and utilize all methods to accommodate the urgent needs of the special learner.

GIFTED AND TALENTED

If a gifted and talented program is reinstated, the superintendent agrees to negotiate the impact of this program with the Rome Teachers Association president.

rancis M. Murphy Ph.D

C.

Acting Superintendent of Schools

Pat Mungari

President, Rome Teachers Assoc.

Date: 4-26-01

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

This is in reference to Article 32 Supervisory Assistance, Teacher Observation, Evaluation and Records. The Rome City School District and the Rome Teachers Association agree to the following in regard to Professional Performance review

Professional Performance Review

Professional Growth Options (Self-directed)

The full review may be selected from, but not limited to, those options listed below. These options may be exercised when both the teacher and the teacher's principal/or designee agree to do so and the teacher has had a satisfactory evaluation the previous school year.

Prior to October 15th of the year in which the Full Review is to be conducted, the teacher shall submit a plan for his/her professional growth during that year to the principal or other supervisor designated by the principal. The plan shall include initial training, a statement of goals and objectives, a list of activities, a tentative timetable, and a method of assessment. Professional Growth Options may be selected from but not limited to those listed below

- a. Peer Coaching
- b. Critical Friends
- C. Action Research
- d. Teacher Portfolios

The supervisor may suggest changes in the plan; once the plan is acceptable to both the teacher and the supervisor, both shall sign it. During the year the teacher and the supervisor shall meet when appropriate to discuss progress on the plan. On or before June 1st the teacher shall submit to the supervisor a written report of what he or she did and what he or she learned. The teacher and the supervisor shall meet to discuss the report, and the supervisor may add his or her comments. The report shall then be signed by both the teacher and the supervisor and placed in the teacher's file.

Francis M. Murphy Ph.D

Acting Superintendent of Schools

Pat Mungari

President, Rome Teachers Assoc.

Date: 4-26-01

Memorandum of Understanding

Pilot Program Flex Schedule

The parties have agreed on the need to implement a pilot program to incorporate a sliding or flex schedule due to new state educations regulations. The superintendent and Rome Teachers Association president will incorporate language pertaining to offering extended day classes with staff involvement on a voluntary basis. Additional details that may also need to be resolved include variable schedules, six day rotations for buildings or other such matters not currently foreseen.

Francis M. Murphy Ph.D Acting Superintendent of Schools

President, Rome Teachers Assoc.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

This is in reference to several articles in the contract which relate to the appointment of committees. The Rome Teachers Association and the Rome City School District agree that all appointments to contractua committees will be jointly approved by the superintendent of schools and the RTA president. Ratios o membership in standing committees will remain the same.

Francis M. Murphy Ph.D

Acting Superintendent of Schools

Pat Mungari

President, Rome Teachers Assoc.

	_				
-1	\Box	•	4.	_	
-		а	ш		

Memorandum of Understanding

This is in reference to Article 15 Meetings and Article 19A Teacher Work Day. It has been and remains the Association's position that these provisions are exclusive of one another. While teachers normally are required to remain five (5) minutes after the dismissal bell, meetings scheduled by the building principal may extend beyond the five minutes and teachers may be required to stay beyond the time.

Peter Blake, Superintendent

Robert A. Wood, President
Superintendent

Rome Teachers Association

ROME CITY SCHOOL DISTRICT

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES
409 HELL ROAD, ROME, NEW YORK 13400 PHONE: 315,338,6500 PAX: 315,338,6526

2017-2018 STUDENT PROGRAM CALENDAR

M T W T September 2017 January 2018 ¥ 6) 27 20 13 -1 20 21 14 Ħ <u>–1</u> 29 22 | 23 15 16 00 30 S S 9 2

7	0	w	2		01	1 1	12	00	=
28	21	4	7		Z		26	19	12
29	23	15	00	-	7	Z	27	20	13
30	23	16	9	2	ş	May 2018	28	21	14
31	24	17	10	w	7	018	29	22	15
	25	100	=	4	'n		30	23	(16)
	26	19	12	Ux	S	П	31	24	17

TOTAL STAFF DAYS 189 REFLECTED IN TOTAL

FIRST DAY OF SCHOOL SEPTEMBER 7 LAST DAY OF SCHOOL

BUDGET VOTE
- Tuesday MAY 15, 2019

SEPTEMBER 4 ...

OCTOBER 9....

NOVEMBER 10

... VETERANS' DAY ... COLUMBUS DAY

LABOR DAY

JANUARY 15

. MARTIN LUTHER KING DAY . MID-WINTER RECESS

STUDENT VACATION DAYS

KEY:

RECESS/VACATION DAYS

SUPERINTENDENT'S CONFERENCE DAYS

NOVEMBER 22-24 THANKSGIVING RECESS DECEMBER 25-JANUARY 1 WINTER RECESS

MAY 28

MEMORIAL DAY SPRING RECESS GOOD FRIDAY

Final 5/04/17

REGENT'S

APRIL 23-27 .. MARCH 30... FEBRUARY 19-23

use City Statest Institut provides continuous scalem- e-X to graduation, ensuring that students are life-long futive citizens, and members of the alchal econome "	dischive citizens.	e-K to graduati	me City stados
	" and members of the about a construct	on, ensuring that students are life-long	Listrict provides continuous academ-

Mission Statement...

"The Rome City School District is a diverse and innovative educational community that believes through both words and actions that all students can learn and be successful. Education in the Rome City School District provides continuous academic and social growth from Pre-X to graduation, ensuring that students are life-long learners, prod

PRO	PRO		PRO	EAR	FUL	SUPI	28	21	14	7		co		24	17	10	w		co	
	ENIS	FESSI	FESSI	LY DI.	LDAY	RIN	29	22*	15	00	E	3	اے	25	18	=			3	ျွ
	EXA	IANO	IVNO	ENIN SMISS	PARI	TEND	30	23#	16	9	ы	7	anu	26	19	12	(S)		7	pte
	AS (RI	DEV	.DEV	G COL	I.I.	ENT	31	24*	17	10	دما	¥	ary	27	20	13	(6)		₩	nbei
	NOV	ELOP	ELOP	LEM.	EACH	SCON		25#	50	=	4	н	Јапцагу 2018	28	21	14	7		T	September 2017
	3	NEN'S	MEN	PAREI	ER C	FERE		26	19	13	Ċ,	Ħ		29	22	25	00	-	Ŧ	7
	REGENTS EXAMS (RFA ONLY)	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT HALF DAY 7-12	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT FULL DAY 7-12	EARLY DISMISSAL/ELEM. PARENT/TEACHER CONFERENCE DAYS PREK-6 EVENING CONFERENCE	FULL DAY PARENT TEACHER CONFERENCE PREK-6	SUPERINTENDENT'S CONFERENCE DAYS ()		27	20	13	6	S		30	23	16	9	2	S	
		DAY	DAY.	ACHE	RENC	DAYS.								Personal Control						
		7-12	7-12 -	R CO	E PRE		25	18	=	4		SO		29	22	15	06	-	Ø	П
				NFE	N-6 :	*	26	19	12	Ŋ		×		30	23	16	9	2	M	
				ENC		.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	27	20	13	6		-	February 2018	31	24	17	10	w	T	Oct
TOTAL TOTAL CO				E DAY	-		28	21	14	7		¥	uary		25	50	=	4	W	October 2017
				SPRE		***************************************	Г	22	12	00	-	H	201		26	19	12	5	Т	201
				86				23	16	9	2	700	*		27	(20)	13	6	F	
				₩ 🔳	-	-		24	17	10	(L)	S			28	21	4	7	S	
ŀ	0		•	•	-	· C					-						-	-		
	20	13	6		S	Γ	25	100	Ξ	4		S	П	26	19	12	S		S	
nd.	20 21	13 14	6 7		S M		25 26	18 19	11 12	4 5		S		26 27	19 20	12 13	5 6		S M	
		-	\vdash	-	-	Z	<u> </u>	-		-		_	Ma	-			-		-	Nove
100	21	14	7	1 2	Z	May 2	26	19	12	S		3	March:	27 28	20	13	6	1	M	Novembe
20 20	21 22	14 15	7 8	1 2 3	M T	May 2018	26 27	19 20	12 13	5 6		M T	March 2018	27 28	20 21	13 14	6 7	1 2	M T	November 201
20 20	21 22 23	14 15 16	7 8 9	-	M T W	May 2018	26 27 28	19 20 21	12 13 14 15	5 6 7	1 2	M T W	March 2018	27 28 299	20 21 22	13 14 15 16	6 7 8 9	1 2 3	M T W	November 2017
מר מר פר	21 22 23 24	14 15 16 17	7 8 9 10	w	M T W T	May 2018	26 27 28 29	19 20 21 22	12 13 14	5 6 7 8	1 2 3	M T W T	March 2018	27 28 299	20 21 22 23	13 14 15	6 7 8	-	M T W T	November 2017
70 70 70	21 22 23 24 25	14 15 16 17 18	7 8 9 10 11	3 4	M T W T F	May 2018	26 27 28 29 30	19 20 21 22 23	12 13 14 15 (16)	5 6 7 8 9	-	M T W T F	March 2018	27 28 29 30	20 21 22 23 24	13 14 15 16 17:0	6 7 8 9 10	w	M T W T F	November 2017
	21 22 23 24 25	14 15 16 17 18	7 8 9 10 11	3 4	M T W T F	May 2018	26 27 28 29 30	19 20 21 22 23	12 13 14 15 (16)	5 6 7 8 9	-	M T W T F	March 2018	27 28 29 30 24	20 21 22 23 24	13 14 15 16 17:0	6 7 8 9 10	w	M T W T F	November 2017
70 70	21 22 23 24 25 26 17	14 15 16 17 18 19	7 8 9 10 11 12	3 4	M T W T F S	May 2018	26 27 28 29 30 31	19 20 21 22 23 24	12 13 14 15 (16) 17	5 6 7 8 9 10	-	M T W T F S	March 2018	27 28 29 30	20 21 22 23 24 25	13 14 15 16 17:0 18	6 7 8 9 10 11	w	M T W T F S	
	21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18*	14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11	7 8 9 10 11 12 3	3 4	M T W T F S		26 27 28 29 30 31 29	19 20 21 22 23 24 22	12 13 14 15 (16) 17 15	5 6 7 8 9 10 8	3	M T W T F S S		27 28 29 30 24 31	20 21 22 23 24 25 17	13 14 15 16 17 18 10	6 7 8 9 10 11 3	w	M T W T F S S	
	21 22 23 24 25 26 17	14 15 16 17 18 19 10	7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4	3 4	M T W T F S S M	June	26 27 28 29 30 31 29	19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23	12 13 14 15 (16) 17 15 16	5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9	3 1 2	M T W T F S S M	April 2	27 28 299 30 24 31 25	20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18	13 14 15 16 17:0 18 10 11	6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4	w	M T W T F S M	Decembe
	21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18+ 19+ 20+	14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12+	7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 50	3 4	M T W T F S S M T		26 27 28 29 30 31 29	19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24	12 13 14 15 (16) 17 15 16 17	5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10	3 1 2 3	M T W T F S S M T		27 28 299 30 24 31 25 26	20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19	13 14 15 16 17 18 10 11 12	6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5	w	M T W T F S S M T	Decembe
20 20 21	21 22 23 24 25 26 17 18# 19#	14 15 16 17 18 19 10 11 12 13	7 8 9 10 11 12 3 4 50 6	3 4	M T W T F S S M T W	June	26 27 28 29 30 31 29	19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24 25	12 13 14 15 (16) 17 15 16 17 18	5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10 11	3 1 2 3 4	M T W T F S S M T W	April 2	27 28 29 30 24 31 25 26 27	20 21 22 23 24 25 17 18 19 20	13 14 15 16 17 0 18 10 11 12 13	6 7 8 9 10 11 3 4 5 6	w	M T W T F S S M T W	

¥-0-2

Terms and Conditions of Employment Of Interpreters for the Hearing Impaired And In-School Suspension Personnel

The following articles in this collective bargaining agreement apply to these job categories with no revision:

Article 1

Preamble

Article 2

Recognition (except that the titles of regularly appointed Interpreter for Hearing Impaired students and In-School Suspension Supervisor shall be considered as

added thereto)

Article 3

Support of Exclusive Teacher Representation

Article 4

Negotiation Procedure

Article 13

Meetings

Article 15

Use of School Facilities

Article 21

Pupil Discipline

Article 22/12/19/19/19 Teacher-Administration Liaison

Article 23 Marticle 23

Ethics

Article 29

Association Rights

Article 36

Professional Development

Article 37

Grievance Procedure

Article 38

Miscellaneous

Article 39

Definitions

Article 41

Insurance

Article 42

Educational Policy

Article 43

Duration

The following articles in this collective bargaining agreement do not apply to these job categories:

Article 10

Tenure

Article 12

Administrative Internship Program

Article 14

Student Program Calendar

Article 16

Textbooks

Article 19

Teaching Hours

ARTICLE 43 DURATION

UNLESS MODIFIED BY MUTUAL AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2021, except as otherwise herein provided in this Agreement and shall remain in full force and effect for as long as the Association is recognized under the current recognition or any automatic extension or renewal thereof as the exclusive representative of the employees of the Board in the employer-employee negotiating unit as presently defined.

Provided, however, that either party wishing to amend this Agreement in any respect for the ensuing contract year may so notify the other by December 1, 2018, of the topics to which modification is desired and the parties will thereupon negotiate such modification pursuant to the provisions hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals this 18 day of September 2017.

By:

DIS

Superintendent of Schools

MICHELLE L. SCHULTHEIS
Notary Public, State of New York
Qualified in Madison Co. No. 01SC6341184
Commission Expires May 02, 20______

ASSOCIATION

By: Negotiating Committee

Juli Panyon

By: Negotiating Committee

By: Dina Parquebetti
Negotiating Committee

By: Klah Closinski

Negotiating Committee

By: President

73

		â		
		ä		
96 80	9 9	8 8	6	×